

# **Application Grade Thesis**

# Title:

## Study on the potential interactions of the local nervous system and the intestine tissue under physiological and pathological conditions

Student's Name: Leonidas Kandilogiannakis

Supervisor's Name: Assoc. Prof. Ioannis Charalampopoulos

Date of completion: 08/03/2023

This dissertation is submitted as a partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Master's degree of Biomedical Engineering M.Sc. program

## Acknowledgements

This Master's Thesis is a result of a cooperative work between the Departments of Pharmacology in the Medical Schools of Democritus University of Thrace (DUTH) and University of Crete (UoC), under the supervision of Prof. Ioannis Charalampopoulos. The combined expertise of each laboratory was necessary in order to successfully complete this task.

So, firstly, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my thesis supervisor Ioannis Charalampopoulos, Associate Professor of Pharmacology, School of Medicine, UoC, for his invaluable guidance and support throughout the entire research process. His expertise, insight, and constructive criticism have been instrumental in shaping the direction and quality of this work.

Moreover, I would like to extend my heartfelt appreciation to my Mentor George Kolios, Professor Emeritus of Pharmacology, DUTH, for his continuous guidance and support. His commitment to academic excellence has inspired me to strive for the highest standards in research. Without his involvement this project would never have taken place.

Furthermore, I would like to thank Prof. Vangelis Manolopoulos, Head of the Laboratory of Pharmacology, Department of Medicine, DUTH, who has provided me with the necessary resources, facilities, and opportunities to pursue my academic goals.

I would also like to express my sincere thanks to post-Doc researcher Dr Eirini Filidou for her constant support throughout this postgraduate thesis, PhD student Alexandros Tsimpolis and MSc student Eirini Karapidaki for the invaluable help in the experimental process, as well my colleagues in the Laboratory of Pharmacology, PhD students Gesthimani Tarapatzi and Michalis Spathakis. Their valuable feedback, encouragement, and support have been crucial in helping me overcome various obstacles and challenges that I faced during this research. Their diverse perspectives, experiences, and skills have enriched this work and made it more impactful.

In addition, I would like to thank the Director of Biomedical Engineering (BME) MSc program, Prof. Costas Balas, as well as the rest Faculty members of the program for the opportunity to participate in this MSc program and the valuable knowledge and expertise shared.

Also, I would like to thank all my fellow students in the BME MSc program for their flawless collaboration, uninterrupted solidarity, and support for the whole duration of our studies.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the love and encouragement of my family and friends, whose unwavering support and encouragement have been a source of strength and motivation throughout this challenging journey. Without them this achievement would not have been possible.

## Abstract

**Introduction:** The Gut-Brain-Axis connects the gastrointestinal with the neurological system and this "relationship" seems to be bidirectional, as each of them affects the functions of the other. The neurotrophins and their receptors have been well studied and proven to play a significant role in various neurodegenerative diseases, but their involvement in the intestinal inflammation has not yet been adequately studied.

**Aim:** Our aim was to investigate the expression of the neurotrophin receptors TrkA, TrkB and p75NTR in *in vitro* and *ex vivo* intestinal inflammation models, stimulated with the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , in order to identify disease mechanisms and possible new therapeutic targets.

**Materials & Methods:** Human colonic subepithelial myofibroblasts (cSEMFs) were isolated from endoscopic biopsies of healthy individuals, set to culture and later stimulated with 5ng/ml IL-1 $\alpha$  and 50ng/ml TNF- $\alpha$  for 6, 24 and 48 hours. At the end of the 6h incubation period, total RNA was isolated, while at the end of 24 and 48h incubation periods, supernatants were collected, and total cells were harvested in lysis buffer. The mRNA and protein expression of the neurotrophin receptors TrkA, TrkB and p75NTR was analysed using real-time PCR and Western blot analysis, respectively. Human intestinal organoids (HIOs) were developed from the embryonic stem cell line H1. Colonoids were developed from epithelial crypts isolated from endoscopic biopsies. Both 3D culture models were characterized using immunofluorescence and were later stimulated with 5ng/ml IL-1 $\alpha$  and 50ng/ml TNF- $\alpha$  for 12 and 24 hours. At the end of the 12h incubation period, total RNA was isolated, while at the end of 24h incubation period, supernatants were collected, and organoids were harvested in lysis buffer. The mRNA expression of several chemokines was analysed using real-time PCR.

**Results:** Non-stimulated cSEMFs were lacking the expression of all neurotrophin receptors (TrkA, TrkB and p75NTR). Stimulation with IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$  led to a statistically significantly upregulation of the mRNA levels of TrkB and p75NTR. This mRNA upregulation was also verified at the protein level and specifically, the IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$  stimulation resulted in a significant and time-dependent increase in the protein expression of TrkB and p75NTR in cSEMFs. Additionally, the 3D *in vitro* and *ex vivo* intestinal models of HIOs and Colonoids were successfully developed and established, as both systems were responsive to the stimulation of IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , resulting in the mRNA upregulation of the chemokines CXCL1, CXCL8, CXCL10, CXCL11, CCL2 and CCL20, and thus rendering them as promising tools for the further investigation of the role of neurotrophin receptors in the intestinal inflammation.

**Conclusions:** Our results show that the expression of TrkB and p75NTR neurotrophin receptors is induced upon inflammatory challenges in cSEMFs, indicating a significant role on this process. Our *in vitro* approach could mimic the microenvironment of inflamed mucosal tissue of patients with Inflammatory Bowel Diseases or related disorders, and thus to be proven useful as an *in vitro* platform for an initial drug screening of novel or repurposed agents against these diseases. Conclusively, we propose a new experimental approach for the evaluation of pharmacological ligands of these neurotrophin receptors as potential anti-inflammatory compounds.

# Τίτλος και Περίληψη

# Μελέτη των αλληλεπιδράσεων μεταξύ του τοπικού νευρικού συστήματος και του εντερικού ιστού κάτω από φυσιολογικές και παθολογικές συνθήκες

**Εισαγωγή:** Ο Άξονας Εντέρου-Εγκέφαλου συνδέει το γαστρεντερικό με το νευρολογικό σύστημα και αυτή η σύνδεση φαίνεται να είναι αμφίδρομη, καθώς το καθένα από αυτά επηρεάζει τις λειτουργίες του άλλου. Οι νευροτροφίνες όπως και οι υποδοχείς τους έχουν μελετηθεί διεξοδικά και έχει αποδειχθεί ότι παίζουν σημαντικό ρόλο σε πολλές Νευροεκφυλιστικές ασθένειες, αλλά η εμπλοκή τους στην εντερική φλεγμονή δεν έχει μελετηθεί επαρκώς.

**Σκοπός:** Στόχος μας ήταν να διερευνήσουμε την έκφραση των TrkA, TrkB και p75NTR (υποδοχείς νευροτροφινών) σε *in vitro* και *ex vivo* μοντέλα εντερικής φλεγμονής, έπειτα από διέγερση με τις προφλεγμονώδεις κυτταροκίνες IL-1α και TNF-α, με σκοπό να εντοπιστούν πιθανοί παθογενετικοί μηχανισμοί και νέοι θεραπευτικοί στόχοι έναντι της εντερικής φλεγμονής.

Υλικά & Μέθοδοι: Ανθρώπειοι κολονικοί υποεπιθηλιακοί μυοϊνοβλάστες (YEM) απομονώθηκαν από ενδοσκοπικές βιοψίες υγιών ατόμων, καλλιεργήθηκαν και διεγέρθηκαν με 5ng/ml IL-1α και 50ng/ml TNF-α για 6, 24 και 48 ώρες. Στο τέλος της 6-ωρης επώασης, απομονώθηκε ολικό RNA, ενώ μετά από τις επωάσεις των 24 και 48 ωρών, συλλέχθηκαν τα κύτταρα και τα υπερκείμενά τους. Η mRNA και πρωτεϊνική έκφραση των υποδοχέων TrkA, TrkB και p75NTR αναλύθηκε χρησιμοποιώντας RT-PCR και Western blot, αντίστοιχα. Τα ανθρώπεια εντερικά οργανίδια (AEO) αναπτύχθηκαν από την εμβρυϊκή σειρά βλαστοκυττάρων H1, ενώ τα κολονοειδή αναπτύχθηκαν από επιθηλιακές κρύπτες που απομονώθηκαν από ενδοσκοπικές βιοψίες. Έπειτα, τα δύο αυτά 3D μοντέλα χαρακτηρίστηκαν χρησιμοποιώντας ανοσοφθορισμό και διεγέρθηκαν με 5 ng/ml IL-1α και 50 ng/ml TNF-α για 12 και 24 ώρες. Στο τέλος της 12-ωρης επώασης, απομονώθηκε ολικό RNA, ενώ στο τέλος των 24 ωρών, συλλέχθηκαν τους. Η mRNA έκφραση χημειοκινών αναλύθηκε χρησιμοποιώντας RT-PCR.

**Αποτελέσματα:** Οι αδιέγερτοι YEM δεν εξέφρασαν κανένα από τους υποδοχείς (TrkA, TrkB και p75NTR). Η διέγερση με IL-1α και TNF-α οδήγησε σε στατιστικά σημαντική αύξηση των mRNA επιπέδων του TrkB και του p75NTR. Η επαγωγή του mRNA επαληθεύτηκε σε επίπεδο πρωτεΐνης και συγκεκριμένα, η διέγερση με IL-1α και TNF-α οδήγησε σε σημαντική και χρόνο-εξαρτώμενη αύξηση της έκφρασης των TrkB και p75NTR στους YEM. Επιπλέον, τα 3D *in vitro* και *ex vivo* εντερικά μοντέλα (AEO – Koλovoειδή) αναπτύχθηκαν επιτυχώς, καθώς και τα δύο συστήματα ανταποκρίνονταν στη διέγερση με IL-1α και TNF-α. Συγκεκριμένα η διέγερση είχε ως αποτέλεσμα την mRNA επαγωγή των χημειοκινών CXCL1, CXCL8, CXCL10, CXCL11, CCL2 και CCL20, καθιστώντας τα AEO και τα Κολονοειδή υποσχόμενα εργαλεία για την περαιτέρω διερεύνηση του ρόλου των υποδοχέων των νευροτροφινών στην εντερική φλεγμονή.

**Συμπεράσματα:** Τα αποτελέσματά μας αναδεικνύουν ότι οι προφλεγμονώδεις παράγοντες επάγουν την έκφραση των υποδοχέων TrkB και p75NTR στους YEM, υπογραμμίζοντας τον σημαντικό ρόλο της φλεγμονής στην έκφραση των υποδοχέων νευροτροφινών. Η *in vitro* προσέγγισή μας προσπαθεί να μιμηθεί το φλεγμονώδες μικρο-περιβάλλον του βλεννογόνου των ασθενών με Ιδιοπαθείς Φλεγμονώδεις Νόσους του Εντέρου ή άλλες σχετικές εντερικές διαταραχές, ώστε να αποτελέσει μία χρήσιμη *in vitro* πλατφόρμα για την αξιολόγηση νέων φαρμάκων ή παραγόντων έναντι αυτών των ασθενειών.

## Table of contents

## Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	2
Abstract	3
Τίτλος και Περίληψη	4
Table of contents	5
List of figures	7
List of tables	8
Chapter 1: Introduction	9
Chapter 2: Literature review	
2.1. Neurotrophins	
2.2 Neurotrophin Receptors	
2.3 Neurotrophin agonists and antagonists	
2.4 Involvement of Neurotrophins and their Receptors in Gut	
2.5 Inflammatory Bowel Diseases	
2.5.1. Crohn's Disease	
2.5.2. Ulcerative Colitis	
2.5.3. Immune mechanisms	
2.6. In vitro and ex vivo disease models	
2.6.1. Human Intestinal Subepithelial Myofibroblasts	
2.6.2. Organoids	22
Chapter 3: Research methodology	25
3.1. Aim of the Study	25
3.2. Patients	25
3.3. Isolation and Characterization of Human Colonic Subepithelial Myofibroblasts	25
3.4. Development of Human Intestinal Organoids	
3.5. Development of Human Colonoids	
3.6. Immunofluorescence	27
3.7. Treatment with Pro-inflammatory cytokines	
3.8. Total RNA extraction and purification	
3.9. cDNA synthesis and real time-PCR	
3.10. Western Blot	29
3.11. Statistics	

Biomedical Engineering MSc Program -https://www.bme-crete.edu.gr/

Chapter 4: Results	31
4.1. cSEMFs express the neurotrophin receptors TrkB and p75NTR upon pro-inflammatory stimulation	31
4.2. Development of Human Intestinal Organoids and Colonoids	32
Chapter 5: Discussion	36
Chapter 6: Conclusion	39
References	40

## List of figures

Figure 1. (A) Gut-Brain axis. (B) Microbiome-Gut-Brain axis.

Figure 2. Neurotrophin receptors.

Figure 3. Stages of hESCs differentiation into Human Intestinal Organoids.

Figure 4. Development of Colonoids from tissue biopsies.

**Figure 5.** Characterization of cSEMFs. cSEMFs are found positive to  $\alpha$ -SMA and Vimentin expression and negative to Desmin expression.

**Figure 6.** Pro-inflammatory cytokines induce the mRNA levels of TrkB and p75NTR in cSEMFs. (A) TrkB mRNA expression. (B) p75NTR mRNA expression.

**Figure 7.** cSEMFs express the proteins of TrkB and p75NTR upon pro-inflammatory stimulation. (A) TrkB protein expression. (B) p75NTR protein expression.

**Figure 8.** Characterization of HIOs. HIOs are found to express CDX2, Cytokeratin, Villin, Chromogranin A, Vimentin, E-cadherin, EpCam, MUC2, SOX9, KLF5 and Desmin.

Figure 9. Development of human Colonoids from epithelial crypts.

**Figure 10.** Characterization of human Colonoids. Colonoids were found to express E-cadherin, Lgr5, Cytokeratin, EpCam and MUC2.

**Figure 11.** HIOs and Colonoids respond to pro-inflammatory stimuli by overexpressing various chemokines.

## List of tables

 Table 1. Genes associated with an increased likelihood of IBD development.

 Table 2. Primer sequences used.

## Chapter 1: Introduction

The Enteric Nervous System (ENS) acts as a second "Brain" (Gershon, 2019) providing a bridge between the gut, the mucosal immune system, the neuroendocrine system, the Autonomic Nervous System (ANS), the Vagus Nerve and by extension the brain (Furness, 2012). Though initially the brain was considered the sole instigator of Gut-Brain relationship, in an attempt to "regulate" the gut, later studies revealed the bidirectional communication between the Central Nervous System (CNS) and the ENS. Afferent and efferent signals to and from CNS, respectively, are going through the Vagus Nerve, while the Circulatory System offers an alternative route for communication, which is not only responsible for monitoring and regulating several organs functions – and specifically the Gut – but also for linking emotional and cognitive centers of the brain with the intestinal mechanisms. (**Figure 1A**) (Carabotti, Scirocco, Maselli, & Severi, 2015). These observations provided the basis for investigating the Gut-Brain Axis in depth, revealing four distinct signaling pathways, consisting of neural, immune, endocrinological and microbial communication pathways (Holzer & Farzi, 2014).

With the new knowledge of the involvement of the microbiota in human health, the Gut-Brain Axis has been extended to include the microbiome in its schematic, referred to in the literature as the Microbiome-Gut-Brain Axis (Bauer, Huus, & Finlay, 2016; Morais, Schreiber IV, & Mazmanian, 2021). Microbial metabolites interact with the host environment, controlling immune responses through the mucosa, reaching the brain through the circulatory system, and modifying neural responses. It is clear that there is an entire ecosystem that affects homeostasis and pathological conditions, through known and unknown mechanisms (**Figure 1B**) (Mayer, Nance, & Chen, 2022; Sampson & Mazmanian, 2015).



Figure 1. (A) Gut-Brain axis. (B) Microbiome-Gut-Brain axis.

Biomedical Engineering MSc Program -https://www.bme-crete.edu.gr/

### Chapter 2: Literature review

#### 2.1. Neurotrophins

Neurotrophins are a family of secreted growth factors with a pivotal role in the nervous system, and more specifically, they are mainly involved in neurite outgrowth, neuronal cell differentiation, and survival (Skaper, 2012). They are primarily synthesized as pro-neurotrophins, which upon cleavage, their mature and active forms are released, exerting their effects (Chao, Rajagopal, & Lee, 2006). Neurotrophins can be produced either by non-neuronal cells in the periphery, or by neurons in the central nervous system, and during development, the continuous interaction between neurotrophins and nerve cells is essential for neuronal survival; nerve cells that do not establish a neurotrophin signal transduction are destined to degenerate (Ginty & Segal, 2002).

The most well-known and well-studied growth factor of this family is the Nerve Growth Factor (NGF), which is involved in both the peripheral and the central nervous system. Regarding the peripheral nervous system, NFG is known to have an effect on motor and sensory neurons, while in the central nervous system, it is implicated the survival and functioning of cholinergic neurons in the basal forebrain (Chao et al., 2006). Apart from NGF, three other neurotrophins have been identified in mammals, the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), the neurotrophin-3 (NT-3) and the neurotrophin-4 (NT-4), and they act either by forming homodimers or heterodimers. All four seem to have derived from a common ancestral gene, as they present similarities in both their gene sequence and protein structure (E. J. Huang & Reichardt, 2001).

As NGF was the first neurotrophin to be discovered, much research has been done on its possible secretion sources; it is mainly synthesized and secreted by sympathetic and sensory neurons, and upon secretion it can either be endocytosed by other nerve cells and transported to the nerve cell body, and thus exert its effect on neuronal cell survival, or it can act on non-neuronal target cells, such as hair follicles (E. J. Huang & Reichardt, 2001). Except from these sources, previous studies have shown that NGF and other neurotrophins are released upon nerve damage. Macrophages infiltrating the damaged tissue produce pro-inflammatory cytokines, which subsequently induce the production and secretion of NGF from Schwann cells and fibroblasts, and thus promoting nerve regeneration (Korsching, 1993). In addition, during nerve development, many studies have shown that nerve target regions may express neurotrophins in order to guide, attract and support the developing nerve axons that have yet to make contact with their targets (E. J. Huang & Reichardt, 2001).

The protein structure of NGF is characterized by three subunits, the  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ , and many studies have shown that NGF plays a significant role in both embryonic and adult life (Wise, Seidel, & Lane, 2021). During embryonic development, neuroblasts that lack NGF are destined to undergo apoptosis (Ullrich, Gray, Berman, Coussens, & Dull, 1983), while in adulthood, its knockout expression in mice resulted in skeletal muscle dystrophy, reduced number of dorsal root ganglia neurons and impaired learning capacity (Ruberti et al., 2000). BDNF is another well-studied neurotrophin and its mature form consists of 118 amino acids. Its main actions seem to be focused on neuronal differentiation and modulation of the synaptic functions of neurons (B. L. Hempstead, 2015; Sharma, Singh, Kaur, Mannan, & Dhiman, 2023). NT-3 comprises of 119 amino acids (Chalazonitis, 1996), while NT-4 of 60 amino acids, and both these neurotrophins play a significant role in neuronal and synaptic plasticity (Omar, Kumar, & Teoh, 2022).

#### 2.2 Neurotrophin Receptors

The neurotrophin receptor family consists of tropomyosin-related kinase receptor (Trk) A, B, C and p75NTR, and each of them has a different affinity for specific neurotrophins. Although all proneurotrophins bind to p75NTR, their mature forms bind to specific receptors; NGF binds to TrkA, BDNF and NT4 to TrkB, and NT3 to TrkC (**Figure 2**) (Sharma et al., 2023).

Regarding the Trk receptors, it has been found that each of them is expressed in specific cell and tissue types. Specifically, cholinergic basal forebrain neurons were found positive for TrkA expression, while cortical and hippocampal pyramidal neurons and cochlear neurons were positive for TrkB and TrkC expression (Cellerino, Maffei, & Domenici, 1996; Sobreviela et al., 1994; Szobota et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2000). Although Trk receptors share many features, they are also characterized by unique structural and expression traits, resulting to different biological functions (Conroy & Coulson, 2022).

Since TrkA, TrkB and TrkC share a significant homology in their gene and protein sequences, their structural forms are similar and consist of three parts: the extracellular part, which comprises of 5 different domains, the  $\alpha$ -helical transmembrane part and the intracellular part, which includes a tyrosine kinase, responsible for the signal transduction. Interaction and binding of Trk ligands to the extracellular domains leads to the activation of Trk, and the subsequent autophosphorylation of its intracellular part by its kinase, resulting to the initiation and transduction of further signaling pathways through phosphorylation (BARBACID, 1995; Conroy & Coulson, 2022; Eric J. Huang & Reichardt, 2003).

Regarding p75NTR, although it was initially believed to be an NGF receptor, it was later proved that p75NTR actually belongs to the tumor necrosis factor receptor family (Skeldal, Coulson, Bradshaw, &

Stahl, 2016). Similar to the Trk receptors, the structural form of p75NTR consists of three parts: an extracellular one which has four cysteine-rich domains, an  $\alpha$ -helical transmembrane part and an intracellular one (Conroy & Coulson, 2022). In contrast to the Trk receptors, the intracellular domain of p75NTR does not have any catalytic activity, but rather protein binding sites (Gentry, Barker, & Carter, 2004; Tanaka, Kelly, Goh, Lim, & Ibánez, 2016; Verdi et al., 1994). Due to its lack of intercellular catalytic activity, for many years it was believed that p75NTR is just an adaptor protein, unable for signal transduction (M. S. Chang, Arevalo, & Chao, 2004; Conroy & Coulson, 2022; Barbara L Hempstead, 2002). Nonetheless, extensive research revealed that p75NTR is indeed capable for signal transduction, as its intracellular part not only contains several protein binding sites at its N-terminal, but it also has death domain at its C-terminal (Conroy & Coulson, 2022; Liepinsh, Ilag, Otting, & Ibanez, 1997). Although trimerization or polymerization of the death domains of the tumor necrosis factor receptor family members is essential for the induction of apoptotic cascades, the data regarding p75NTR are inconclusive (Conroy & Coulson, 2022). p75NTR may interact with all four neurotrophins, with different affinity, and thus apart from its pro-apoptotic activity, p75NTR might also induce various other signal transductions, such as cell survival and proliferation, growth cone collapse and neurite outgrowth (Barker, 1998; Chen et al., 2009; F. S. Lee, Kim, Khursigara, & Chao, 2001).



Figure 2. Neurotrophin receptors.

#### 2.3 Neurotrophin agonists and antagonists

The dysregulation expression of both neurotrophins and their receptors is a common characteristic among several neurological disorders, such as Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, Huntington's

disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and others (Josephy-Hernandez, Jmaeff, Pirvulescu, Aboulkassim, & Saragovi, 2017). Since the interaction of neurotrophins with their Trk receptors results to neuronal survival, development and proliferation, the development of several agonists has been proposed as potential therapeutic strategies for several of the aforementioned disorders (Josephy-Hernandez et al., 2017). On the other hand, since p75NTR activation usually results in apoptosis initiation, the use of antagonists has been also exploited as potential therapy (Saragovi & Gehring, 2000; Saragovi, Hamel, & Di Polo, 2009).

The exogenous administration of neurotrophins was an approach that failed to bring positive results, mainly due to the poor pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of these proteins, but also possibly due to their unintended interaction with the p75NTR. Thus, the development of smaller molecules acting either as agonists or antagonists could be the solution to the aforementioned clinical failures (Peleshok & Saragovi, 2006). Over the years, many small molecules have been developed that could have structural or functional mimicry, modulate downstream pathways, increase the endogenous production of neurotrophins or transactive the Trk receptors through other pathways (Josephy-Hernandez et al., 2017).

Regarding TrkA, Idebenone was a small agonist developed for Alzheimer's disease and although it showed promising results during the preclinical phases (Yamada et al., 1997), it failed to show any improvement during clinical trials (Gutzmann & Hadler, 1998; Orsucci, Mancuso, Ienco, LoGerfo, & Siciliano, 2011; Thal et al., 2003). On the other hand, D3, a partial agonist for TrkA, has been proven to promote dorsal root ganglion neuronal survival and differentiation (Maliartchouk et al., 2000), and to also improve the short- and long-term memory in animal models (Aboulkassim et al., 2011; Bruno et al., 2004). Gambogic acid and its derivatives, gambogic amide, dimethyl-gambogic acid and dihydrogambogic acid, have also been reported to act as TrkA agonists, and in vitro and in vivo data suggest that they can promote survival of hippocampal cells and protect them against apoptosis (Jang et al., 2007; Obianyo & Ye, 2013). BNN27 is a small molecule and C17-spiroepoxide derivative of the neurosteroid dehydroepiandrosterone, and previous studies have reported that through its interaction with TrkA, it can protect sympathetic, sensory and cerebellar granule neurons from apoptosis (Pediaditakis, Efstathopoulos, et al., 2016; Pediaditakis, Kourgiantaki, et al., 2016), and it can also have a therapeutic effect in diabetic retinopathy (Ibán-Arias et al., 2017). ENT-A010 and ENT-A013 are two NGF-mimetic molecules, which have been observed to exert their neuroprotective effects through their interaction with TrkA (Rogdakis et al., 2022; Yilmaz et al., 2022).

As for TrkB, several agonists have been developed from various natural products. The Paecilomycine A's derivatives have been reported to interact with TrkB, resulting in the *in vitro* promotion of neuronal differentiation and the *in vivo* induction of neurogenesis (Chakravarty et al., 2015). Similarly, Gedunin's derivative, deoxygedunin has been shown to promote neuronal survival *in vitro* and to enhance memory consolidation *in vivo* (Jang et al., 2010). 7,8-dihydroxyflavone (7,8-DHF) is a flavonoid derivative with promising results, as several studies have reported its neuroprotective effects (Bollen et al., 2013; Chitranshi, Gupta, Kumar, & Graham, 2015; Devi & Ohno, 2012; Z. Zhang et al., 2014). BNN-20, a synthetic microneurotrophin that binds to TrkB, has been shown to have a therapeutic effect in animal models of Parkinson's Disease, as it restored the impaired levels of BDNF, increased the dopamine levels and improved the overall motor activity (Panagiotakopoulou et al., 2020). In another study, BNN-20 was also observed to increase the number of mature oligodendrocytes and to prevent astrocytic accumulation, but this time, its beneficial effects were accomplished through its interaction with TrkA (Kalafatakis, Patellis, Charalampopoulos, Gravanis, & Karagogeos, 2021).

Finally, regarding p75NTR, several small molecules have been synthesized to bind to this receptor and exert possible positive effects. One such is the LM11A-31 that previous studies have reported to inhibit Aβ mediated death *in vitro* and to improve recognition and spatial memory *in vivo* (Knowles et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2008). Similarly, LM11A-24, another small molecule, has been shown to offer neuroprotection and memory improvement *in vivo* (Nguyen et al., 2014).

#### 2.4 Involvement of Neurotrophins and their Receptors in Gut

Although the role and implication of neurotrophins and their receptors have been mainly studied in neurodegenerative disorders, there are a few data suggesting that they may be also involved in gut physiology. Increased expression of NGF and BDNF has been associated with Irritable Bowel Syndrome (IBS), and inhibition of 5-hydroxytryptamine receptor has been shown to reduce visceral hypersensitivity (W. Y. Chang et al., 2022). In another study, increased levels of proBDNF/p75NTR have been associated with depression and gastrointestinal disorders, such as decreased motility, while treatment with fluoxetine improved both neurological and intestinal functions (Yu et al., 2020). Dehydroepiandrosterone and NGF have been shown to promote the survival of colon cancer cells, while inhibition of TrkA abolished the effects of the aforementioned factors (Anagnostopoulou et al., 2013). In the same notion, Genevois et al. showed that reduced expression of TrkC receptor has been observed in colon cancers and its overexpression can lead to the induction of apoptosis in colonic

cancer cell lines (Genevois et al., 2013). Thus, further research on the role of neurotrophins and their receptors in colonic inflammation, fibrosis and cancer development is crucial.

#### 2.5 Inflammatory Bowel Diseases

The Inflammatory Bowel Diseases (IBDs) are characterized by chronic intestinal inflammation of unknown cause, and include Crohn's Disease (CD) and Ulcerative Colitis (UC) (J. T. Chang, 2020). Crohn's Disease can affect the entire gastrointestinal tract, with the most common disease location being the terminal ileum, whereas Ulcerative Colitis is limited to the large intestine. Regarding their clinical manifestations, CD is accompanied by abdominal pain, diarrhea and weight loss, while UC by more generalized symptoms, such as diarrhea and blood loss (Flynn & Eisenstein, 2019). One of the characteristics of CD is the development of transmural intestinal fibrosis which in some cases can lead to the creation of strictures, a serious complication that often requires surgical intervention (Y. Hayashi & Nakase, 2022).

Regarding the prevalence of IBD, it has been observed that during the 21<sup>st</sup> century there has been a significant increase of their occurrence in industrialized countries (Flynn & Eisenstein, 2019). It is estimated that approximately 2 million people suffer from IBD in Europe and their incidence has increased by 0.3% during the last decades (Ng et al., 2017; Zhao, Gönczi, Lakatos, & Burisch, 2021). Although small, this increase implies an upscale in the cost and time of hospitalization and treatment, as IBDs are chronic diseases that often require long periods of hospitalization, while their treatments are often expensive (Ng et al., 2017). Therefore, it is highly necessary to elucidate their etiopathogenetic mechanisms, in order to achieve more targeted and low-cost treatments.

Regarding their etiology, IBDs are characterized as idiopathic, as many pathogenetic factors are involved and their etiology still remains unknown. Among the various factors that have been correlated with IBD's development are the genetic background, the immune system, the microbiome, as well as the environment (Flynn & Eisenstein, 2019). Regarding the genetic background, specific genes have been associated with an increased likelihood to CD or UC susceptibility, such as NOD2 for CD and NFKB1 for UC (Fritz, Niederreiter, Adolph, Blumberg, & Kaser, 2011; R. Hayashi et al., 2012). Twin studies have shown increased concordance rates for both CD and UC; for CD the rate can be almost at 60% in monozygotic twins (Xavier & Podolsky, 2007), while first-degree relatives of individuals with IBD have a 5-fold increased possibility that they will also develop IBD (Ramos & Papadakis, 2019). Regarding the immune system, CD is characterized by Th1 and Th17 immune

responses, with increased expression of IL-17, IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , while UC is characterized by Th2 immune response, with increased expression of IL-5 and IL-13 (Flynn & Eisenstein, 2019). Regarding the microbiome, studies so far have shown that specific microbial populations are either increased in IBD, such as Proteobacteria and Bacteroidetes, or reduced and non-existent, such as Firmicutes (Frank et al., 2007). Finally, as far the environment is concerned, the increased intake of saturated fats, the reduced consumption of plant fibers and the excessive, in several cases, use of antibiotics have shown to contribute to an increased likelihood to IBD susceptibility (Flynn & Eisenstein, 2019).

#### 2.5.1. Crohn's Disease

Crohn's Disease, as already mentioned, is characterized by Th1 and Th17 immune responses, with over-secretion of specific cytokines, such as IFN-γ, IL-17 and others (D. H. Kim & Cheon, 2017), and it can affect any part of the gastrointestinal tract. Endoscopically, the CD's affected intestinal tissue may present with ulcerated areas that alternate with healthy mucosa, while histologically, it is characterized by transmural inflammation and accumulation of granulomas and lymphocytes. Initially, CD was named as terminal ileitis, as its more frequent localization is the small intestine, with 30% of patients showing ulcerations mainly in the terminal ileum (Randall et al., 2015).

The main symptoms of CD include abdominal pain, diarrhea, bleeding, weight loss, fever and fatigue (Randall et al., 2015), while, as already mentioned before, another characteristic is the development of transmural fibrosis and intestinal strictures (Strober, Fuss, & Mannon, 2007). In addition, some patients develop fistulas either between segments of the gut, or between the gut and the skin or other organs (Strober et al., 2007).

Previous studies have indicated several genes that may influence the likelihood of CD development (**Table 1**) (Flynn & Eisenstein, 2019), with NOD2 being the most well-studied (Campbell, Williams, Crompton, Cruickshank, & Hardman, 2013; Guerra et al., 2012; Hugot et al., 2001; Ogura et al., 2001). NOD2 encodes the synthesis of a cytoplasmic protein, which is expressed in antigen-presenting cells, macrophages and intestinal epithelial cells and most likely functions as a receptor for bacterial lipopolysaccharide, modulating the pro-inflammatory Nuclear Factor kappa B (NF-κb) and apoptosis in these cells (Abraham & Cho, 2006; Economou, Trikalinos, Loizou, Tsianos, & Ioannidis, 2004).

CD-related Genes	PTPN22, ADAM30, UCN, FASLG, TNFSF18, SP140, ATG16L1, IL6ST, IL31RA , CPEB4, TAGAP, CEB5, JAZF1, RIPK2, LACC1, RASGRP1, SPRED1, NOD2, LGALS9, NOS2, GPX4, FUT2, HMHA1, IFNGR2, IFNAR1
UC-related Genes	TNFRSF14, RFTN2, PLCL1, PRKCD, ITIH4, NFKB1, MANBA, SLC9A3, CARD11, GNA12, DLD, IRF5, JRKL, MAML2, FAM55A, FAM55D, ITGAL, ZFP90, CALM3, ADA, HNF4A
IBD-associated Genes	TNFRSF18, TNFRSF4, TNFRSF9, IL23R, RORC, CD48, FCGR2A/B, FCGR3A, C1orf53, KIF21B, IL10, ADCY3, FOSL2, BRE, REL, SPRED2, IL18RAP, IL1R1, IFIH1, IL18RAP, IL1R1, GPR35, MST1, PFKB4, IL2, IL21, DAP, PTGER4, ERAP2, ERAP1, IBD5 locus, SPRY4, NDFIP1, IRGM, IL12B, DOK3, TRAF3IP2, TNFAIP3, PHACTR2, CCR6, RPS6KA2, ZPBP, IKZF1, SMURF1, EPO, TRIB1, JAK2, NFIL3, TNFSF15, CARD9, IL2RA, IL15RA, MAP3K8, CREM, CISD1, IPMK, TSPAN14, C10orf58, NKX2-3, TNNI2, LSP1, CNTF, LPXN, CD6, RELA, CCDC88B, CXCR5, MUC19, LOH12CR1, VDR, IFNG, SMAD3, GPR183, GPR18, ZFP36L1, FOS, MLH3, GPR65, GALC, CRTC3, SOCS1, LITAF, PRKCB, IL27, IRF8, CCL13,CCL2, ORMDL3, STAT3, TUBD1, RPS6KB1, SMAD7, CD226, TYK2, CEBPG, HCK, CD40, DNMT3B, CEBPB, ZNF831, CTSZ, ICOSLG, TNFRSF6B, LIF, OSM

 Table 1. Genes associated with an increased likelihood of IBD development.

Furthermore, CD can be characterized by a dysregulation of the immune system, which may be due to the activation and overproliferation of T effective cell populations (Th1 and Th17) or due to the reduction of T regulatory populations, which aim to suppress immune responses (Strober et al., 2007).

Finally, it has been observed that the disruption of the normal host-microbe relationship, through changes in the composition of the normal microflora and/or through pathological immune responses against it, can ultimately lead to a state of dysbiosis. As already mentioned, previous studies on the composition of the microbiome of patients with CD have highlighted its reduced diversity, with increased percentages of Bacteroidetes and Proteobacteria and decreased Firmicutes (Andoh & Nishida, 2023; Rapozo, Bernardazzi, & de Souza, 2017).

#### 2.5.2. Ulcerative Colitis

One of the characteristics of Ulcerative Colitis, which distinguishes it from CD, is the fact that UC affects only the large intestine and can be limited either to a single part of the large intestine, or extent to the entire colon (Ungaro, Mehandru, Allen, Peyrin-Biroulet, & Colombel, 2017). A second feature of UC is the type of inflammation, which is continuous and limited only to the mucosal layer (Bernstein, Wajda, & Blanchard, 2005; Di, Biancheri, Rovedatti, Macdonald, & Corazza, 2012; I.J. Fuss et al., 2004). Endoscopically, patients suffering from UC may present with erythema and friability of the mucosa, and loss of the normal vascular network (Ungaro et al., 2017), while histologically, characteristic findings are the accumulation of lymphocytes and granulocytes, the loss of goblet cells, as well as the creation of superficial ulcers and cryptic abscesses. As already mentioned, the symptoms of UC are more generalized and these include diarrhea, blood loss, while in some cases, loss of intestinal peristaltic function can be observed, leading to rigidity or even "toxic megacolon" and intestinal perforation (Bouma & Strober, 2003; Ordas, Eckmann, Talamini, Baumgart, & Sandborn, 2012).

Similar with CD, the pathogenetic factors of UC may include the genetic component, the immune system, the gut microbiota, and the environment. As for the genetic component, it seems to have a less important role than CD, as previous studies showed that the percentage of concordance between monozygotic twins reaches only 16% (Ananthakrishnan, 2015). Nevertheless, several genes have been identified that are associated with a possibility of its occurrence (**Table 1**), such as the previously mentioned NFKB1, but also others that may be involved in various mechanisms, such as in the regulation of the immune system (IL-10, ARPC2) and in the function of the intestinal epithelial barrier (HNF4A, CDH1) (Ungaro et al., 2017).

As already mentioned, UC is mainly characterized by a Th2 immune response (Bamias, Kaltsa, & Ladas, 2011; Fuss et al., 1996; Mannon & Reinisch, 2012), while more recent studies mention additional populations of both the effective, such as Th17, Th9 and T regulatory (Treg) immune response (Guan & Zhang, 2017; D. H. Kim & Cheon, 2017; Silva, Rodrigues, Ayrizono, & Leal, 2016), as well as the innate immunity, such as lymphoid cells (innate lymphoid cells - ILCs) (Ungaro et al., 2017), which are involved in its pathogenesis.

Moreover, differences in the composition of intestinal microbiota between normal individuals and UC patients are characteristic, but are nevertheless observed to a lesser extent compared to CD (Rapozo et al., 2017). Finally, the use of non- steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs can modify the intestinal epithelial barrier and lead to an exacerbation of the disease, while on the contrary, some

epidemiological studies have shown that smoking has a beneficial effect in the case of UC, contributing in keeping patients in remission (Bastida & Beltran, 2011; Cosnes, Beaugerie, Carbonnel, & Gendre, 2001; Lindberg, Tysk, Andersson, & Jarnerot, 1988).

#### 2.5.3. Immune mechanisms

Environmental stimuli can often cause disturbances to the immune mechanisms of patients with genetic predisposition to IBD development (Y. Z. Zhang & Li, 2014). IBDs are characterized by insufficient healing of the intestinal mucosal tissue, due to extensive and persistent inflammation and the prolonged presence of pro-inflammatory factors and components of the extracellular matrix (Rieder, Brenmoehl, Leeb, Schölmerich, & Rogler, 2007; Valatas, Filidou, Drygiannakis, & Kolios, 2017). These inflammatory responses are the result of the incorrect overactivation of the immune system of genetically susceptible individuals, usually responding to changes in the balance of the intestinal microflora (Strober et al., 2007). Therefore, in individuals with a genetic predisposition to develop IBD, an infection with a microorganism capable of penetrating the mucosal layer may be sufficient to activate the immune mechanisms of innate immunity at the expense of anti-inflammatory Treg cells (Hansen (Hansen, 2015; Lord, 2015; Segal, 2019).

The pro-inflammatory immune pathways involved in Crohn's Disease and Ulcerative Colitis significantly differ. In CD, there is a distinguished activation of the Th1 and Th17 immune responses, with increased production of cytokines, such as TNF - $\alpha$ , IFN - $\gamma$ , IL -1 $\beta$ , IL -6, IL -17, IL -12, IL -23 (Brand, 2009; Petagna et al., 2020; Siakavellas & Bamias, 2012). Also, following an infection, there may be reduced secretion of the cytokines that regulate neutrophil migration (Segal, 2018, 2019), otherwise capable of mitigating the granulomatous inflammation caused by the exogenous pathogens (Kienle & Lämmermann, 2016). On the other hand, the dysfunctional immune mechanisms that characterize UC are Th2 immune responses, with increased leukocyte migration, due to possible defective antigen presentation of macrophages bearing a mutation of the TLR4 gene (Rahman et al., 2010), as well as increased production of IL-5, IL-13 and CXCL10 from Natural Killer cells (NK) and reduced production of IFN- $\gamma$  (I. J. Fuss et al., 2004).

In addition, new developments in IBD research show that the sub-phenotypes of Crohn 's Disease do not depend exclusively on the differentiation of specific T lymphocyte types, but rather on the balance between Th1, Th2, Th17 and Treg immune responses (Leppkes & Neurath, 2020). The differentiation of T lymphocytes into Th1, Th2, Th17 and Treg is directly dependent on the regulatory capacity of the

secreted proteins of the TGF-β family (Transforming growth factor -β, TGF -β1, -β2, -β3), which can lead to both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory reactions, depending on the environment they are in (Travis & Sheppard, 2014; Zhou et al., 2007). This cytokine has a critical role in pathways of growth, cell migration and differentiation, epithelial-mesenchymal transition, and under normal conditions, it contributes to the healing of the mucous membrane (Leask & Abraham, 2004), while its prolonged secretion leads to inflammatory conditions (Jacob, Targan, & Shih, 2016; McEntee, Gunaltay, & Travis, 2020) and fibrosis, through overproduction of extracellular matrix components, including collagen (Tzavlaki & Moustakas, 2020; Wells, 2000).

#### 2.6. *In vitro* and *ex vivo* disease models

#### 2.6.1. Human Intestinal Subepithelial Myofibroblasts

Depending on the life stage and the microenvironment, different types of SEMFs may be observed. In embryos, myofibroblasts are seen from week 21, and various stem cell types, such as neural crest and serological mesothelium cells, can differentiate into myofibroblasts (Powell, Pinchuk, Saada, Chen, & Mifflin, 2011). In adults, they occur mostly as a result of the differentiation of fibroblasts, which initially express  $\beta$ - and  $\gamma$ -actin, while at their final stage of differentiation they express  $\alpha$ -SMA (Koumas, Smith, Feldon, Blumberg, & Phipps, 2003; Pinchuk, Mifflin, Saada, & Powell, 2010). In addition, epithelial and/or endothelial transition may also result in differentiated myofibroblasts (J. M. Lee, Dedhar, Kalluri, & Thompson, 2006; Stone et al., 2016). Lastly, myofibroblasts may also rise from the differentiation of bone marrow stem cells (De Wever, Demetter, Mareel, & Bracke, 2008).

Colonic subepithelial myofibroblasts (SEMFs) are found under the epithelial layer (Mifflin, Pinchuk, Saada, & Powell, 2011; Roulis & Flavell, 2016) and are necessary for the proper development of the intestinal tissue (N. Y. Lei et al., 2014). They are the second most numerous stromal cell after fibroblasts, followed by smooth muscle cells, pericytes and mesenchymal stromal cells (Owens, 2015). These cells are either spindle- or stellate-shaped, they are positive for  $\alpha$ -SMA (Alpha Smooth Muscle Actin), non-muscle myosin, fibronectin and vimentin, while negative for smooth muscle myosin and negative or slightly positive for desmin (Eyden, 2008; Valatas et al., 2017).

Under normal conditions, possible injuries to the endothelium or the mucosa of the gastrointestinal tract may activate SEMFs (Badid, Mounier, Costa, & Desmoulière, 2000; Roulis & Flavell, 2016). Having the appropriate receptors to receive pro-fibrotic and pro-inflammatory signals from their environment

(Filidou et al., 2018a), SEMFs start migrating towards the damaged tissue and multiply, while simultaneously producing components of the extracellular matrix (ECM), such as collagen, to temporarily cover the wound surface (Powell et al., 1999; Valatas et al., 2017).

Under abnormal conditions, such as those prevailing in IBD, the extensive inflammation, due to the massive migration of T lymphocytes, neutrophils and macrophages (Rieder & Fiocchi, 2009), may lead to pathological responses by myofibroblasts (Filidou et al., 2018a). In pathological conditions, myofibroblasts are unable to seize proliferating once the damaged tissue is restored, and instead are constantly activated, overproducing collagen, and thus resulting in fibrosis (Latella et al., 2014; Lawrance et al., 2017; Rieder et al., 2007; Roulis & Flavell, 2016). Furthermore, it has also been shown *in vitro* that when SEMFS are stimulated with the cytokines of the Th1 immune responses, IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , or with the cytokines of the Th17 immune responses, IL-17, IL-22, and IL-23, there is an increased secretion of collagen and fibronectin compared to unstimulated SEMFs (Filidou et al., 2018a). In addition to their inability to deactivate, the inhibition of apoptosis and collagen degradation may also contribute to the creation of fibrosis (Mortensen et al., 2019; Petrey & de la Motte, 2017; Sanders et al., 2015).

Additionally, it has been shown that SEMFs are able to produce various pro-inflammatory cytokines (Reinecker et al., 1993; Valatas et al., 2017). Upon dose-dependent stimulation with IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , SEMFs express increased amounts of IL-8, Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein 1 (MCP-1) and Matrix Metalloproteinase 1 (MMP-1) (Okuno et al., 2002). In the presence of IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , SEMFs produce increased amounts of Tumor Necrosis Factor - like cytokine 1 A (TL1A) and Death - domain receptors Receptor 3 (DR3) and Decoy Receptor 3 (DcR3) (Bamias et al., 2017). After the addition of IL-17, with and without the simultaneous administration of either IL-1 $\beta$  or TNF- $\alpha$ , SEMFs overexpress the proinflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IL-8, as well as MCP-1 and NFkB1 (Hata et al., 2002). Finally, administration of IL-1 $\alpha$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IFN- $\gamma$  to epithelial cells causes an increase in TGF- $\beta$  and TIMP-1 production, and the use of supernatants from these cells to stimulate SEMFs, results in increased production of collagen and MMP-9 (Drygiannakis et al., 2013).

In summary, when SEMFs are in a microenvironment, consistent with the conditions observed in individuals with IBD, the expression of factors that exacerbate these inflammatory conditions is enhanced. Thus, due to the central role SEMFs have in fibrotic processes and inflammatory immune responses, selective inhibition of their differentiation or the production of profibrotic components could be promising drug targets (Cosin-Roger et al., 2019; Mifflin et al., 2011; Osterman, 2013).

#### 2.6.2. Organoids

The need to find either suitable tools for the study of organ development (organ development), or alternative in vitro models - beyond classical cell lines - and more accessible sources for transplantation, led the scientific community to the discovery of organoids. Organoids are threedimensional (3D) biological structures, usually composed of many types of cells, that simulate an organ and some of its functions. The beginning of this technology can be attributed to JG Rheinwald and H.Green, who in the 70s developed stratified squamous epithelial colonies (Rheinwald & Green, 1975), which provided a basis for the creation of three-dimensional in vitro structures. In the following years, advances in technology, stem cells, and materials science, contributed significantly to establishing organoids as one of the dominant in vitro models. Nature magazine named organoids development as Method of the year 2017 ("Method of the Year 2017: Organoids," 2018). For their development, either pluripotent stem cells (embryonic, iPSC) or pluripotent adult stem cells (Adult Stem Cells) are required (Clevers, 2016; Rookmaaker, Schutgens, Verhaar, & Clevers, 2015). Organoids can be cultured and grown/multiplied rapidly, cryopreserved, genetically modified by the usual methods used in molecular biology (Drost et al., 2017), and used in high-throughput analyses (high-throughput) (Li, Tang, Cai, Peng, & Hua, 2020). Therefore, organoids are one of biomedicine's most successful attempts to bridge the gap between classical cell cultures and animal models, and they are a very useful tool with the potential to overcome many of the hurdles that classical models could not up until now (J. Kim, Koo, & Knoblich, 2020). The process of developing organoids simulates organogenesis and mostly involves using specific culture materials, which contain growth factors and chemical substances. To create the three-dimensional structure and provide the extracellular matrix (ExtraCellular Matrix) organoids need, a specific gel, Matrigel, is usually used, which derives from Englebreth-Holm-Swarm (EHS) muscle cancer cells (Hughes, Postovit, & Lajoie, 2010). Finally, scientists are now able to develop organoids that simulate organs from all three layers of origin, namely the ectoderm, the mesoderm, and the endoderm (He et al., 2020).

#### 2.6.2.1 Human Intestinal Organoids

The development of Human Intestinal Organoids (HIOs) in 2011 was a milestone in intestinal mucosal research (Spence et al., 2011). HIOs are an innovative *in vitro* models for studying epithelial and mesenchymal cells, as well as their interactions (Spence et al., 2011). HIOs are three-dimensional structures developed from pluripotent stem cells, through a process that mimics organogenesis. They have a similar architecture to intestinal tissue, as their lumen is surrounded by epithelial cells that

form villi and crypts, which are further supported by an outer layer of mesenchymal cells. Therefore, the use of HIOs as *in vitro* models for studying intestinal inflammation and fibrosis offers more advantages than classical two-dimensional *in vitro* models, as HIOs are composed of many different types of epithelial and mesenchymal cells that interact with each other. Although HIOs still lack vascular, neurological or immunological structures, compared to animal models of IBD, yet they provide significant advantages in studying both mesenchymal and epithelial physiology in immune responses (Tsuruta, Uchida, & Akutsu, 2020).

Despite their increasing use to study less complex diseases, intestinal organoids have rarely been used to study multifactorial diseases, such as IBD. Recent studies have shown that intestinal organoids continue to mature and change throughout their culture, mimicking the process of development from the embryonic to adult stage (Kraiczy et al., 2019; Lewis et al., 2020; van der Hee, Madsen, Vervoort, Smidt, & Wells, 2020). Therefore, knowing the appropriate time during their culture period to study inflammatory and fibrotic responses that closely mimic the progression of IBD is crucial to use as an effective *in vitro* study model. Indeed, in a recent publication from our research team, we showed that HIOs from early culture passages are ideal for studying intestinal inflammation and fibrosis (Kandilogiannakis et al., 2021).

#### 2.6.2.2. Colonoids

Another category of organoids are Colonoids (or Enteroids) which in recent years, due to certain advantages they possess, are used more and more in research. Colonoids are three-dimensional intestinal structures that are developed from intestinal crypts, which contain adult stem cells, and are composed only of different types of epithelial cells and no mesenchymal cells (Ranganathan, Smith, Foulke-Abel, & Barry, 2020; Zachos et al., 2016).

The development of Colonoids requires the isolation and fragmentation of the intestinal crypts, in order to release the epithelial stem cells located at the base of the crypt, and then culturing in a special gel (Matrigel) in the presence of specific growth factors, such as Wnt3a, R-spondin and Noggin (Sato & Clevers, 2013; Sato et al., 2011; Sato et al., 2009). These growth factors favor the differentiation of epithelial stem cells, which are Lgr5<sup>+</sup>, into complex structures simulating either the small or large intestine, depending on the site collection of the original tissue (small or large intestine) (Stelzner et al., 2012). During the early stages of their differentiation, 3D spheroidal structures are generated that possess polarity, as their apical surface forms an internal lumen, while their basal surface contacts the

Matrigel. In this phase, the spheroid structures are mainly composed of Paneth cells, enteroendocrine cells, enterocytes and goblet cells, as well as Lgr5<sup>+</sup> stem cells, which support the self-renewal and further maturation of these structures. During their final differentiation and maturation, spheroid colonoids acquire complex structures composed of villi, with mature enteroendocrine cells, enterocytes and goblet cells, but with the absence of Lgr5<sup>+</sup> stem cells (Zachos et al., 2016).

Therefore, the main advantage of Colonoids is their comparatively easier, faster and less expensive development, compared to Human Intestinal Organoids, and for these reasons the former are often preferred in research protocols (Zachos et al., 2016). A second advantage is the possibility to develop and study Colonoids derived not only from normal individuals, but also from patients with any intestinal disease, such as Crohn's Disease or Ulcerative Colitis. The development and study of such structures from patients with enteropathies enables researchers to study both the etiopathogenetic mechanisms of the epithelium, as well as the effect of potential new drugs on a specific disease and individual, and therefore, Colonoids could particularly contribute in Personalized Medicine and Precision Medicine (George, Rahman, Connors, & Stadnyk, 2019).

However, the main disadvantage of Colonoids is the fact that they consist of only one type of cell, the epithelial one. In addition, the simulation of an organ requires conditions as close as possible to reality and in this field, Human Intestinal Organoids excel, as in addition to the different types of epithelial cells, they are also composed of mesenchymal cells, offering the possibility for complex studies of interaction between epithelial and mesenchymal cells (Singh, Poling, Spence, Wells, & Helmrath, 2020).

## Chapter 3: Research methodology

#### 3.1. Aim of the Study

Our aim was to investigate the expression of the neurotrophin receptors TrkA, TrkB and p75NTR in *in vitro* and ex vivo intestinal inflammation models, stimulated with the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL- $1\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , in order to identify disease mechanisms and possible new therapeutic targets.

#### 3.2. Patients

Colonic tissue biopsies were endoscopically obtained from healthy individuals, without systematic autoimmune disease or malignancy, who underwent screening colonoscopy and had no pathological findings. The endoscopies were performed at the Endoscopy Department, University Hospital of Alexandroupolis, Greece. The local Research Ethics Committee approved this study, and patients gave their informed written consent before participation (Protocol number 14127/07-04-2021).

#### 3.3. Isolation and Characterization of Human Colonic Subepithelial Myofibroblasts

Colonic subepithelial myofibroblasts (cSEMFs) were isolated from colonic tissue biopsies of healthy individuals as previously described (Filidou et al., 2018a). Briefly, the biopsies were collected in ice cold Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS; Biosera, Nuaille, France) supplemented with Ca<sup>2+</sup>/Mg<sup>2+</sup>, penicillin (P;100 U/mL; Biosera, Nuaille, France), streptomycin (S;100 µg/mL; Biosera, Nuaille, France), amphotericin B (A;2,5 µg/mL; Biosera, Nuaille, France) and gentamycin (G; 50 µg/mL; Biosera, Nuaille, France). After three washes in HBSS with Ca<sup>2+</sup>/Mg<sup>2+</sup> and three washes in HBSS without Ca<sup>2+</sup>/Mg<sup>2+</sup>, the biopsies were deepithelialized for 15 minutes in 1 mM dithiothreitol (DTT, Sigma-Aldrich, Darmstadt, Germany), followed by 3 half hour incubations with 1 mM Ethylene-Diaminetetraacetic Acid (EDTA, Sigma-Aldrich, Darmstadt, Germany) at 37°C. The tissues were then placed in 75cm<sup>2</sup> flasks containing RPMI 1640 (PAN Biotech, Aidenbach, Germany) supplemented with 10% v/v Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS; Biosera, Nuaille, France) and the aforementioned antibiotics and kept in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37°C for 4 weeks, with the medium being changed every day for 4 days and then twice a week. Once numerous myofibroblast colonies started to form, the biopsies were removed and the cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM, 1.5 g/l glucose; PAN Biotech, Aidenbach, Germany) plus 10% FBS and P/S/A in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37°C. The myofibroblast phenotype was verified with immunofluorescence microscopy as being  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$ -SMA) and vimentin positive and desmin negative using a fluorescent microscope (Leica DM2000, Leica Microsystems GmbH, Wetzlar,

Biomedical Engineering MSc Program -https://www.bme-crete.edu.gr/

Germany). All experiments were performed with cSEMFs at passages 2–6 cultured in 6-well-plates with FBS- and antibiotics-free DMEM until 95% confluence.

#### 3.4. Development of Human Intestinal Organoids

Human Intestinal Organoids (HIOs) were developed from H1 embryonic stem cell line using the STEMdiff<sup>™</sup> Intestinal Organoid Kit (StemCell Technologies, Vancouver, Canada), according to the manufacturer's instructions and as previously described (Kandilogiannakis et al., 2021). Briefly, H1 cells were seeded onto Matrigel-coated 24-well plates and cultured in mTeSR<sup>™</sup>1 medium (StemCell Technologies, Vancouver, Canada) until they reached the appropriate confluency. H1 cells were then cultured in Endoderm Basal medium containing Activin A and fed daily until day 3, when Definitive Endoderm (DE) was created. DE was subsequently cultured in Endoderm Basal medium containing WNT3A and Fibroblast growth factor 4 (FGF4) for another 5-6 days, until Mid-/Hindgut (MH) spheroids were released into the supernatant. MH spheroids were then collected, counted, seeded into domes made of Matrigel (Corning, New York, United States) and cultured in Intestinal Organoid Basal (IOB) medium containing epidermal growth factor (EGF) and Noggin, until HIOs were finally formed (**Figure 3**). HIOs were continuously cultured in EGF- and Noggin-supplemented IOB medium, fed every 3-4 days and passaged every 10 days at a ratio 1:3. HIOs and their intermediate developmental stages were characterized using immunofluorescence.



Figure 3. Stages of hESCs differentiation into Human Intestinal Organoids.

#### 3.5. Development of Human Colonoids

Human epithelial crypts were isolated from endoscopic biopsies collected from healthy individuals, without systematic autoimmune disease or malignancy, who underwent screening colonoscopy and had no pathological findings. Human Colonoids were developed using the IntestiCult<sup>™</sup>-SF Organoid

Growth Medium (Human) (StemCell Technologies, Vancouver, Canada), according to the manufacturer's instructions (**Figure 4**). Briefly, the endoscopic biopsies were collected in ice cold Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS; Biosera, Nuaille, France) supplemented with  $Ca^{2+}/Mg^{2+}$ , penicillin (100 U/mL; Biosera, Nuaille, France), streptomycin (100  $\mu$ g/mL; Biosera, Nuaille, France), amphotericin B (2,5  $\mu$ g/mL; Biosera, Nuaille, France) and gentamycin (50  $\mu$ g/mL; Biosera, Nuaille, France), and then washed two times with ice cold DPBS (PAN Biotech, Aidenbach, Germany). The endoscopic biopsies were then centrifuged, minced tissue into the smallest fragments possible and centrifuged again. Next, the tissue fragments were incubated with Gentle Cell Dissociation Reagent (GCDR; StemCell Technologies, Vancouver, Canada) for 30 minutes, centrifuged and passed through a 70  $\mu$ m strainer. Finally, the epithelial crypts were counted, around 1000 crypts were plated into Matrigel domes and culture medium was added. Culture medium was changed every two days and by the end of day 10, Colonoids were developed and characterized using immunofluorescence.



Figure 4. Development of Colonoids from tissue biopsies.

#### 3.6. Immunofluorescence

cSEMFs, HIOs and Colonoids were characterized using immunofluorescence, as previously described (Filidou et al., 2018a). Briefly, samples were first fixed in 4% ice-cold paraformaldehyde (PFA; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, United States) for 40 minutes, then washed in phosphate buffered saline (PBS; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, United States) and treated with 0.1% Triton-X (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, United States) for 15 minutes, in order to achieve membrane permeability. Samples were then treated with blocking solution containing 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, United States) for 1 hour and later incubated overnight at 4oC with primary antibodies in 0.5% BSA (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, United States). The next day, samples were washed and incubated with secondary fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies in 0.5% BSA (Sigma-

Biomedical Engineering MSc Program -https://www.bme-crete.edu.gr/

Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, United States) for 2 hours. Finally, nuclei were stained either with DAPI (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, United States) and observed under a fluorescent microscope (Leica DM2000, Leica Microsystems GmbH, Germany) or DRAQ5 (Novus Biologicals, Abingdon, UK) and observed in 3-dimensions under a light-sheet fluorescent microscope (Ultramicroscope II; LaVision BioTec, Bielefeld, Germany).

#### 3.7. Treatment with Pro-inflammatory cytokines

SEMFs were cultured and prior to cytokine stimulation, they were left with no growth factors for 15h. Next, SEMFs were stimulated with 5ng/ml IL-1 $\alpha$  and 50ng/ml TNF- $\alpha$  for 6h, 24h and 48h and at the end of the 6h-incubation period, SEMFs were collected for RNA extraction and mRNA expression analyses through qRT-PCR, whereas at the end of the 24h- and 48h-incumbation period, supernatants were collected and SEMFs were collected in lysis buffer for further protein analyses.

#### 3.8. Total RNA extraction and purification

Total RNA from SEMFs was extracted using Nucleozol (MACHEREY-NAGEL, Düren, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions and as previously described (Tarapatzi et al., 2022). Briefly, SEMFs were first lysed and H<sub>2</sub>O was added to each sample. Samples were vortexed, incubated and centrifuged, and their supernatants were transferred to new tubes. Isopropanol was added and samples were incubated and centrifuged in order for the RNA to be precipitated. RNA was washed twice with 75% Ethanol and later dissolved in H<sub>2</sub>O. The concentration and purity of total RNA was measured using a Q5000 UV-Vis spectrophotometer (Quawell, San Jose, California, United States). Any DNA contamination was removed using Deoxyribonuclease I (TaKaRa, Kusatsu, Shiga, Japan) that was later EDTA- and heat-inactivated.

#### 3.9. cDNA synthesis and real time-PCR

cDNA synthesis was performed using the PrimeScript RT Reagent Kit (Perfect Real Time) (TaKaRa, Kusatsu, Shiga, Japan) according to the manufacturer's instructions and as previously described (Kandilogiannakis et al., 2021). In brief, 250ng total RNA were mixed with 5X PrimeScript Buffer, reverse transcriptase, oligo dT primers, random hexamers and RNase Free H<sub>2</sub>O, and incubated at 37°C for 15 minutes. Reverse transcriptase was then inactivated by heat treatment. The gene-specific mRNA expression was quantified by quantitative real-time (qRT)-PCR using the KAPA SYBR FAST qPCR Kit (Kapa Biosystems Ltd, Boston, MA, USA), as previously described (Kandilogiannakis et al., 2021).

Briefly, 10ng of cDNA were mixed with gene-specific primers, described in **Table 2**, and the KAPA SYBR FAST qPCR mastermix, and a two-step amplification protocol was performed. All amplification reaction took place at a StepOne Real-Time PCR System (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) under a cycling program consisted of 20s at 95 °C, followed by 40 cycles of 95 °C for 3s and 60 °C for 30s. The gene expression of each studied gene was normalized against Actin gene expression in the same sample using the  $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$  method.

Gene	Forward	Reverse
Ntrk2 (TrkB)	GGGACACCACGAACAGAAGT	CACCACAGCATAGACCGAGA
NGFR (p75)	CACCGACAACCTCATCCCTG	TGCAGCTGTTCCACCTCTTG
Actin F	CCAACCGCGAGAAGATGAC	TAGCACAGCCTGGATAGCAA
CXCL1	GCCCAAACCGAAGTCATAGCC	ATCCGCCAGCCTCTATCACA
CXCL8	TGGGTGCAGAGGGTTGTG	CAGACTAGGGTTGCCAGATTTA
CXCL10	CCTGCTTCAAATATTTCCCT	CCTTCCTGTATGTGTTTGGA
CXCL11	GACGCTGTCTTTGCATAGGC	GGATTTAGGCATCGTTGTCCTTT
CCL2	AGGAAGATCTCAGTGCAGAGG	AGTCTTCGGAGTTTGGGTTTG
CCL20	GCTGCTTTGATGTCAGTGC	GCAGTCAAAGTTGCTTGCTTC

 Table 2. Primer sequences used for RT-PCR.

#### 3.10. Western Blot

Western blotting for TrkA, TrkB and p75NTR was performed in total protein samples of lysed cSEMFs as previously described (Delivanoglou et al., 2020). Briefly, SEMFs were lysed in ice-cold lysis buffer consisting of 10 mM Hepes pH 7.4, 10 mM KCL, 0.1 mM EDTA, 10% NP-40, 0.1 mM EGTA, 1 mM DTT, and a mixture of protease inhibitors (1 mM PMSF, 1 µg/ml leupeptin, 1 µg/ml aprotinin). The total protein concentration was assessed by Bradford method. Twenty micrograms of protein lysates were resolved on SDS-PAGE in 8% and 10% acrylamide gel and transferred onto polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes (Macherey-Nagel, GmbH&Co, Germany). The membranes were blocked with 5% BSA in TBS supplemented with 0.1% Tween-20 (P1379, Sigma) (TBST) for 1 h at room temperature (RT), followed by overnight incubation at 4°C with primary antibodies such as p75NTR (1:1000 anti-CD271, Biolegend), TrkB (1:1000 anti-TrkB, 07-225-I, Millipore), Actin (1:1000 anti-Actin beta C4, sc-47778, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) and TrkA (1:250, sc-118, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, USA). The membranes were washed three times for 10 min with TBST, incubated with the appropriate HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies secondary (anti-mouse 1:5.000, HRP-conjugated anti-mouse IgG

(Cell Signaling Technology, Leiden, The Netherlands) and anti-rabbit 1:5.000,) for 1 h at RT and then developed using the chemiluminescence reaction (ECL, GenScript, NJ, USA). All membranes were stripped and re-probed with  $\beta$ -actin as loading control. Image analysis and quantification of bands' density were performed with the software Fiji.

#### 3.11. Statistics

Results are presented as means with standard error of mean (SEM). Comparison of values among sample groups was performed with ordinary one-way ANOVA. Statistical significance was set at p <0.05.

## Chapter 4: Results

#### 4.1. cSEMFs express the neurotrophin receptors TrkB and p75NTR upon proinflammatory stimulation

cSEMFs were isolated from colonic endoscopic biopsies, cultured, and characterized using immunofluorescence as described in the Materials and Methods. Specifically, cSEMFs were found to be positive for  $\alpha$ -SMA and vimentin expression, while negative for desmin expression (**Figure 5**).



Figure 5. Characterization of cSEMFs. cSEMFs are found positive to  $\alpha$ -SMA and Vimentin expression and negative to Desmin expression.

The cSEMFs were next seeded to 6-well plates and upon reaching 90-100% confluency, serum-free culture medium was added and cells were incubated for 15h. After 15h, cSEMFs were either stimulated or not with 5ng/ml IL-1 $\alpha$  and 50ng/ml TNF- $\alpha$  for 6h, 24h and 48h; at the end of the 6h-incubation period, total RNA was extracted, while at the end of the 24h- and 48-incubation period, total protein was collected.

Regarding the mRNA expression of TrkB and p75NTR, no mRNA levels were detected in unstimulated cSEMFs. On the contrary, when cSEMFs were stimulated with 5ng/ml IL-1 $\alpha$  and 50ng/ml TNF- $\alpha$ , TrkB and p75NTR mRNA expression was statistically significantly upregulated when compared to the unstimulated cells (TrkB: 3.13-fold, ±0.67, p<0.05; **Figure 6A**; p75NTR: 6.76-fold, ±0.18, p<0.0001; **Figure 6B**), suggesting that inflammatory-related mediators can induce the mRNA expression of these neurotrophin receptors.



**Figure 6.** Pro-inflammatory cytokines induce the mRNA levels of TrkB and p75NTR in cSEMFs. (A) TrkB mRNA expression. (B) p75NTR mRNA expression.

Having observed these results on the mRNA level, we proceeded in investigating their protein expression in lysed cSEMFs. Again, unstimulated cells were lacking the expression of all neurotrophin receptors (TrkA, TrkB and p75NTR), while stimulation with 5ng/ml IL-1 $\alpha$  and 50ng/ml TNF- $\alpha$  for 24 and 48h led to a significant and time-dependent increase in the protein expression of the TrkB (48h: 278.7%, ±17.0, p<0.05; **Figure 7A**) and p75NTR (48h: 155.8%, ±7.4, p<0.05; **Figure 7B**) compared to unstimulated cSEMFs.





#### 4.2. Development of Human Intestinal Organoids and Colonoids

Having observed that the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$  induce the mRNA and protein expression of the neurotrophin receptors TrkB and p75NTR in cSEMFs which are of mesenchymal origin, we proceeded with the development of human Intestinal Organoids (HIOs) in order to further investigate their expression in a 3D system that consists of both epithelial and mesenchymal cells. In

addition, we also developed Colonoids from epithelial crypts in order to examine the expression of the aforementioned neurotrophin receptors in a 3D system that consists only of epithelial cells.

Regarding HIOs, they were developed and characterized as described in the Materials and Methods. Specifically, HIOs were successfully developed as they consisted of both mesenchymal and epithelial cells, as indicated by the positive expression of Vimentin, Desmin and E-cadherin, respectively. Regarding their epithelium, it consisted of intestinal CDX2-expressing epithelial cells, which appeared to form a compact epithelial barrier, as they intensively expressed the cell adhesion molecules Ecadherin and EpCam. In addition, the epithelial cytoskeleton was successfully developed, as abundant cytokeratin expression was observed, and various types of epithelial cells were identified, such as goblet (stained positive for MUC2) and enteroendocrine cells (stained positive for Chromogranin A). The epithelial cells were observed to form villi, as shown by their positivity for Villin, and finally, SOX9 and KLF5 positive staining revealed the presence of intestinal epithelial stem cell niches, possibly supporting the renewal of the intestinal epithelium (**Figure 8**).



Figure 8. Characterization of HIOs. HIOs are found to express CDX2, Cytokeratin, Villin, Chromogranin A, Vimentin, E-cadherin, EpCam, MUC2, SOX9, KLF5 and Desmin.

Additionally, human Colonoids were developed and characterized as described in the Materials and Methods. Specifically, colonoids were developed from human epithelial crypts after 10 days of culture (**Figure 9**) and were later characterized using immunofluorescence (**Figure 10**). Colonoids were

successfully developed as they expressed the cell adhesion molecules Ecadherin and EpCam, and they consisted of goblet cells expressing MUC2. Their epithelial cytoskeleton was successfully developed as positive cytokeratin expression was observed and Lgr<sup>+</sup> epithelial stem cells were identified.



Figure 9. Development of human Colonoids from epithelial crypts.



Figure 10. Characterization of human Colonoids. Colonoids were found to express E-cadherin, Lgr5, Cytokeratin, EpCam and MUC2.

After the successful development of both HIOs and Colonoids, we proceeded in performing pilot experiments by stimulating them with IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , in order to establish an *in vitro* model of

intestinal inflammation. As shown in **Figure 11**, both HIOs and Colonoids responded in a similar way to the pro-inflammatory stimuli of IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , by overexpressing the chemokines CXCL1 (HIOs: 22.30-fold, ±1.30, p<0.0001; Colonoids: 13.07-fold, ±2.52, p<0.05), CXCL8 (HIOs: 13.30-fold, ±1.76, p<0.001; Colonoids: 6.59-fold, ±1.20, p<0.05), CXC10 (HIOs: 235.30-fold, ±20.73, p<0.0001; Colonoids: 60.34-fold, ±7.75, p<0.01), CXC11 (HIOs: 14.53-fold, ±1.29, p<0.001; Colonoids: 7.70-fold, ±0.74, p<0.01), CCL2 (HIOs: 52.29-fold, ±2.59, p<0.0001; Colonoids: 39.40-fold, ±5.86, p<0.01) and CCL20 (HIOs: 23.86-fold, ±2.43, p<0.001; Colonoids: 534.80-fold, ±41.73, p<0.01), compared to unstimulated controls. These results indicate that the 3D *in vitro* and *ex vivo* models of intestinal inflammation were successfully developed and could be employed in the investigation of possible pathogenetic mechanisms or pharmacological targets.



Figure 11. HIOs and Colonoids respond to pro-inflammatory stimuli by overexpressing various chemokines.

Next, HIOs and Colonoids will be stimulated or not with 5ng/ml IL-1 $\alpha$  and 50ng/ml TNF- $\alpha$  for 12h, 24h and 48h; at the end of the 12h-incubation period, total RNA will be extracted, while at the end of the 24h- and 48-incubation period, total protein will be collected. The mRNA and protein expression of TrkB and p75NTR will be subsequently studied using real-time PCR and Western Blot, respectively. Due to time limitation of the present thesis, these experiments are still ongoing.

## Chapter 5: Discussion

This Master's Thesis reports for the first time that the neurotrophin receptors, TrkB and p75NTR, are expressed in intestinal subepithelial myofibroblasts upon stimulation with the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$ . In addition, it is also shown that the development of 3D Human Intestinal Organoids and Colonoids can be used as *in vitro* models of studying intestinal inflammation, and thus further investigate the role of neurotrophin receptors in gut physiology.

Specifically, our results indicate that the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$  induce a timedependent upregulation of TrkB and p75NTR expression in cSEMFs and that the overexpression is more prominent at the 48h stimulation compared to the 24h one. To our knowledge, this is the first report showing that these two neurotrophin receptors are expressed in the mesenchymal cells of the intestinal tissue. Our results agree with a previous study, which shows that differentiated skin and lung myofibroblasts not only secrete various neurotrophins, but also express TrkB and p75NTR in higher levels than undifferentiated fibroblasts (Micera et al., 2001). In a similar study of skin healing, Palazzo et al. identified that the inhibition of either Trk or p75NTR resulted in reduced fibroblast proliferation and migration, suggesting that this signaling pathway plays a critical role in wound healing (Palazzo et al., 2012). In addition, TrkB has also been found overexpressed in myofibroblasts from diabetic retinopathy epiretinal membranes (Abu El-Asrar et al., 2013), suggesting that pathologically related situations may induce the expression of neurotrophin receptors in mesenchymal cells. In another study, treatment of Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis (IPF)-isolated fibroblasts with the ligand of TrkB, Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor (BDNF), resulted in enhanced expression of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition markers, promoting the mesenchymal activity of the fibroblasts (Cherubini et al., 2017). All the aforementioned studies conclude that pathogenetic mechanisms seem to induce the expression of TrkB, and thus validate our results that clearly show induction of the expression of TrkB and p75NTR in cSEMFs after treatment with the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$ .

Regarding p75NTR, few studies have reported its expression in cells, which are of mesenchymal origin and isolated from other than the intestinal tissue. Specifically, in conjunctival fibroblasts, after treatment with the Nerve Growth Factor (NGF), the p75NTR's ligand, not only induced the expression of p75NTR, but also enhanced the migratory capacity of these cells, and upregulated the production of  $\alpha$ -SMA and TGF- $\beta$  (Micera et al., 2005). Similar results were reported by Micera et al., where isolated fibroblasts from patients with vernal keratoconjunctivitis expressed the p75NTR, while fibroblasts from healthy controls lacked in its expression (Micera et al., 2007). In addition, although the  $\alpha$ -SMA expression did not change in these cells upon NGF stimulation, the expression of extracellular matrix components (ECM), such as collagen, was indeed induced, suggesting that the NGF/p75NTR axis is implicated in fibrogenesis (Micera et al., 2007). Apart from fibrogenesis, the same research team showed that acute or chronic stimulation with NGF can induce apoptosis to an *in vitro* model of conjunctival myofibroblasts (Micera, Puxeddu, Balzamino, Bonini, & Levi-Schaffer, 2012).

Except from the ocular system, the expression of p75NTR has also been studied in hepatic stellate cells, which are of mesenchymal origin (Kendall et al., 2009; Passino, Adams, Sikorski, & Akassoglou, 2007). Specifically, Passino et al. showed that the depletion of p75NTR from hepatic stellate cells inhibited their differentiation into myofibroblasts, as well as failed to support the proliferation of hepatocytes (Passino et al., 2007). Similar to Micera et al. who showed that p75NTR activation leads to apoptosis in conjunctival myofibroblasts (Micera et al., 2012), Kendall et al. reported that an inactive form of p75NTR in hepatic myofibroblasts may be involved in the reduced resolution of hepatic fibrosis, through a weaker induction of apoptosis (Kendall et al., 2009). These results suggest that although TrkB has been involved in pathological conditions, p75NTR may have a protective effect in the resolution of fibrosis. On the contrary, another research team showed that the NGF/p75NTR axis induces the  $\alpha$ -SMA and collagen expression in fibroblasts through the nuclear translocation of MRTF-A (Liu et al., 2019), a significant factor that is implicated in fibrosis (Ge et al., 2018; H. Lei et al., 2015; Luchsinger, Patenaude, Smith, & Layne, 2011; Shiwen et al., 2015), suggesting that p75NTR may have a homeostatic role.

Regarding the development of HIOs and Colonoids as *in vitro* models for studying the intestinal inflammation, these 3D systems may offer many advantages. As far as HIOs are concerned, the results of this Master's Thesis show that HIOs can accurately mimic the architecture of intestinal tissue, as they develop villi and contain different types of epithelial and non-epithelial cells. On the other hand, although Colonoids consist only of epithelial cells, they also seem to mimic the intestinal tissue, in a lesser extent, as they also develop villi and contain various types of epithelial cells. In addition, it is also shown that both HIOs and Colonoids exhibit inflammatory responses to pro-inflammatory stimuli similar to intestinal tissue. Moreover, the use of HIOs or Colonoids can overcome the difficulties of isolating, culturing and maintaining 2D cultures of primary cells (Pamies et al., 2018), while also can offer the advantage of studying healthy epithelial cells; primary epithelial cells are difficult to isolate and maintain (Grossmann et al., 2003), while the available epithelial immortalized cell lines differ from the healthy epithelium (Kaur & Dufour, 2012). Finally, both HIOs and Colonoids allow for large number of high-throughput screening experiments, but without the need for a large number of experimental animals (according to the Reduce-Replace-Refine principle). Thus, we believe that by investigating the

possible expression of TrkB and p75NTR in 3D intestinal *in vitro* models, such as HIOs and Colonoids, it would further highlight the role of these two neurotrophin receptors in the pathophysiology of intestinal inflammation.

## Chapter 6: Conclusion

In conclusion, the aim of this study was to investigate the expression of the neurotrophin receptors TrkA, TrkB and p75NTR in intestinal inflammation models, stimulated with the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , in order to identify disease mechanisms and possible new therapeutic targets. We demonstrated for the first time that neurotrophin receptors are expressed in colonic subepithelial myofibroblasts - a well-established *in vitro* intestinal inflammation model - after stimulation with pro-inflammatory cytokines. Therefore, our findings suggest that neurotrophin receptors are implicated in intestinal inflammation and may be targets for therapeutic intervention in IBD. In addition, we also report the successful development of both Human Intestinal Organoids and Colonoids that may be used as 3D *in vitro* and *ex vivo* models for studying intestinal inflammation and fibrosis. Thus, our future research plans include the further investigation of the role of neurotrophin receptors in intestinal inflammation and fibrosis using these 3D complex intestinal cultures, in an effort to fully elucidate the pathogenetic mechanisms of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases, discover new associations between the gut and the brain, and identify possible new therapeutic targets.

## References

- Aboulkassim, T., Tong, X.-K., Tse, Y. C., Wong, T.-P., Woo, S. B., Neet, K. E., . . . Saragovi, H. U. (2011). Ligand-dependent TrkA activity in brain differentially affects spatial learning and long-term memory. *Molecular pharmacology*, *80*(3), 498-508.
- Abraham, C., & Cho, J. H. (2006). Functional consequences of NOD2 (CARD15) mutations. *Inflamm.Bowel.Dis.*, *12*(7), 641-650. doi:10.1097/01.MIB.0000225332.83861.5f [doi];00054725-200607000-00014 [pii]
- Abu El-Asrar, A. M., Mohammad, G., De Hertogh, G., Nawaz, M. I., Van Den Eynde, K., Siddiquei, M.
   M., . . . Geboes, K. (2013). Neurotrophins and neurotrophin receptors in proliferative diabetic retinopathy. *PLoS One*, *8*(6), e65472. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0065472
- Anagnostopoulou, V., Pediaditakis, I., Alkahtani, S., Alarifi, S. A., Schmidt, E. M., Lang, F., . . .
   Stournaras, C. (2013). Differential effects of dehydroepiandrosterone and testosterone in prostate and colon cancer cell apoptosis: the role of nerve growth factor (NGF) receptors. *Endocrinology*, *154*(7), 2446-2456. doi:10.1210/en.2012-2249
- Ananthakrishnan, A. N. (2015). Epidemiology and risk factors for IBD. *Nat.Rev.Gastroenterol.Hepatol.*, *12*(4), 205-217. doi:nrgastro.2015.34 [pii];10.1038/nrgastro.2015.34 [doi]
- Andoh, A., & Nishida, A. (2023). Alteration of the Gut Microbiome in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Digestion, 104*(1), 16-23. doi:10.1159/000525925
- Badid, C., Mounier, N., Costa, A. M., & Desmoulière, A. (2000). Role of myofibroblasts during normal tissue repair and excessive scarring: interest of their assessment in nephropathies. *Histol Histopathol*, 15(1), 269-280. doi:10.14670/hh-15.269
- Bamias, G., Filidou, E., Goukos, D., Valatas, V., Arvanitidis, K., Panagopoulou, M., . . . Kolios, G. (2017). Crohn's disease-associated mucosal factors regulate the expression of TNF-like cytokine 1A and its receptors in primary subepithelial intestinal myofibroblasts and intestinal epithelial cells. *Transl Res, 180*, 118-130.e112. doi:10.1016/j.trsl.2016.08.007
- Bamias, G., Kaltsa, G., & Ladas, S. D. (2011). Cytokines in the pathogenesis of ulcerative colitis. *Discov.Med.*, 11(60), 459-467.
- BARBACID, M. (1995). Structural and Functional Properties of the TRK Family of Neurotrophin Receptors. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 766*(1), 442-458. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1995.tb26693.x</u>
- Barker, P. A. (1998). p75NTR: a study in contrasts. Cell Death & Differentiation, 5(5), 346-356.
- Bastida, G., & Beltran, B. (2011). Ulcerative colitis in smokers, non-smokers and ex-smokers. *World J.Gastroenterol.*, *17*(22), 2740-2747. doi:10.3748/wjg.v17.i22.2740 [doi]
- Bauer, K. C., Huus, K. E., & Finlay, B. B. (2016). Microbes and the mind: emerging hallmarks of the gut microbiota–brain axis. *Cellular microbiology*, *18*(5), 632-644.
- Bernstein, C. N., Wajda, A., & Blanchard, J. F. (2005). The clustering of other chronic inflammatory diseases in inflammatory bowel disease: a population-based study. *Gastroenterology*, *129*(3), 827-836. doi:S0016-5085(05)01123-6 [pii];10.1053/j.gastro.2005.06.021 [doi]
- Bollen, E., Vanmierlo, T., Akkerman, S., Wouters, C., Steinbusch, H., & Prickaerts, J. (2013). 7, 8-Dihydroxyflavone improves memory consolidation processes in rats and mice. *Behavioural brain research*, *257*, 8-12.
- Bouma, G., & Strober, W. (2003). The immunological and genetic basis of inflammatory bowel disease. *Nat.Rev.Immunol., 3*(7), 521-533. doi:10.1038/nri1132 [doi];nri1132 [pii]
- Brand, S. (2009). Crohn's disease: Th1, Th17 or both? The change of a paradigm: new immunological and genetic insights implicate Th17 cells in the pathogenesis of Crohn's disease. *Gut, 58*(8), 1152-1167. doi:10.1136/gut.2008.163667

- Bruno, M. A., Clarke, P. B., Seltzer, A., Quirion, R., Burgess, K., Cuello, A. C., & Saragovi, H. U. (2004).
   Long-lasting rescue of age-associated deficits in cognition and the CNS cholinergic
   phenotype by a partial agonist peptidomimetic ligand of TrkA. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(37), 8009-8018.
- Campbell, L., Williams, H., Crompton, R. A., Cruickshank, S. M., & Hardman, M. J. (2013). Nod2 deficiency impairs inflammatory and epithelial aspects of the cutaneous wound-healing response. *J.Pathol.*, *229*(1), 121-131. doi:10.1002/path.4095 [doi]
- Carabotti, M., Scirocco, A., Maselli, M. A., & Severi, C. (2015). The gut-brain axis: interactions between enteric microbiota, central and enteric nervous systems. *Annals of gastroenterology: quarterly publication of the Hellenic Society of Gastroenterology, 28*(2), 203.
- Cellerino, A., Maffei, L., & Domenici, L. (1996). The distribution of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and its receptor trkB in parvlbumin-containing neurons of the rat visual cortex. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 8(6), 1190-1197.
- Chakravarty, S., Maitra, S., Reddy, R. G., Das, T., Jhelum, P., Kootar, S., . . . Pabbaraja, S. (2015). A novel natural product inspired scaffold with robust neurotrophic, neurogenic and neuroprotective action. *Scientific reports*, *5*(1), 1-11.
- Chalazonitis, A. (1996). Neurotrophin-3 as an essential signal for the developing nervous system. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 12(1), 39-53. doi:10.1007/BF02740746
- Chang, J. T. (2020). Pathophysiology of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. *N Engl J Med, 383*(27), 2652-2664. doi:10.1056/NEJMra2002697
- Chang, M. S., Arevalo, J. C., & Chao, M. V. (2004). Ternary complex with Trk, p75, and an ankyrin-rich membrane spanning protein. *Journal of neuroscience research*, *78*(2), 186-192.
- Chang, W. Y., Yang, Y. T., She, M. P., Tu, C. H., Lee, T. C., Wu, M. S., . . . Yu, L. C. (2022). 5-HT(7) receptor-dependent intestinal neurite outgrowth contributes to visceral hypersensitivity in irritable bowel syndrome. *Lab Invest*, *102*(9), 1023-1037. doi:10.1038/s41374-022-00800-z
- Chao, Moses V., Rajagopal, R., & Lee, Francis S. (2006). Neurotrophin signalling in health and disease. *Clinical Science*, 110(2), 167-173. doi:10.1042/cs20050163
- Chen, Y., Zeng, J., Chen, Y., Wang, X., Yao, G., Wang, W., . . . Kong, K. (2009). Multiple roles of the p75 neurotrophin receptor in the nervous system. *Journal of International Medical Research*, *37*(2), 281-288.
- Cherubini, E., Mariotta, S., Scozzi, D., Mancini, R., Osman, G., D'Ascanio, M., . . . Ricci, A. (2017). BDNF/TrkB axis activation promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *J Transl Med*, *15*(1), 196. doi:10.1186/s12967-017-1298-1
- Chitranshi, N., Gupta, V., Kumar, S., & Graham, S. L. (2015). Exploring the molecular interactions of 7, 8-dihydroxyflavone and its derivatives with TrkB and VEGFR2 proteins. *Int J Mol Sci, 16*(9), 21087-21108.
- Clevers, H. (2016). Modeling Development and Disease with Organoids. *Cell, 165*(7), 1586-1597. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.05.082
- Conroy, J. N., & Coulson, E. J. (2022). High-affinity TrkA and p75 neurotrophin receptor complexes: A twisted affair. *J Biol Chem, 298*(3), 101568. doi:10.1016/j.jbc.2022.101568
- Cosin-Roger, J., Canet, F., Macias-Ceja, D. C., Gisbert-Ferrándiz, L., Ortiz-Masiá, D., Esplugues, J. V., . . . Calatayud, S. (2019). Autophagy Stimulation as a Potential Strategy Against Intestinal Fibrosis. *Cells, 8*(9). doi:10.3390/cells8091078
- Cosnes, J., Beaugerie, L., Carbonnel, F., & Gendre, J. P. (2001). Smoking cessation and the course of Crohn's disease: an intervention study. *Gastroenterology*, *120*(5), 1093-1099. doi:10.1053/gast.2001.23231 [doi];S0016508501577690 [pii]
- De Wever, O., Demetter, P., Mareel, M., & Bracke, M. (2008). Stromal myofibroblasts are drivers of invasive cancer growth. *Int J Cancer, 123*(10), 2229-2238. doi:10.1002/ijc.23925

- Delivanoglou, N., Boziki, M., Theotokis, P., Kesidou, E., Touloumi, O., Dafi, N., . . . Simeonidou, C. (2020). Spatio-temporal expression profile of NGF and the two-receptor system, TrkA and p75NTR, in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neuroinflammation*, *17*(1), 41. doi:10.1186/s12974-020-1708-9
- Devi, L., & Ohno, M. (2012). 7, 8-dihydroxyflavone, a small-molecule TrkB agonist, reverses memory deficits and BACE1 elevation in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *37*(2), 434-444.
- Di, S. A., Biancheri, P., Rovedatti, L., Macdonald, T. T., & Corazza, G. R. (2012). Recent advances in understanding ulcerative colitis. *Intern.Emerg.Med.*, 7(2), 103-111. doi:10.1007/s11739-011-0719-z [doi]
- Drost, J., van Boxtel, R., Blokzijl, F., Mizutani, T., Sasaki, N., Sasselli, V., . . . Clevers, H. (2017). Use of CRISPR-modified human stem cell organoids to study the origin of mutational signatures in cancer. *Science*, *358*(6360), 234-238. doi:10.1126/science.aao3130
- Drygiannakis, I., Valatas, V., Sfakianaki, O., Bourikas, L., Manousou, P., Kambas, K., . . . Kouroumalis, E. (2013). Proinflammatory cytokines induce crosstalk between colonic epithelial cells and subepithelial myofibroblasts: implication in intestinal fibrosis. *J Crohns Colitis, 7*(4), 286-300. doi:10.1016/j.crohns.2012.04.008
- Economou, M., Trikalinos, T. A., Loizou, K. T., Tsianos, E. V., & Ioannidis, J. P. (2004). Differential effects of NOD2 variants on Crohn's disease risk and phenotype in diverse populations: a metaanalysis. *Am.J.Gastroenterol.*, *99*(12), 2393-2404. doi:AJG40304 [pii];10.1111/j.1572-0241.2004.40304.x [doi]
- Eyden, B. (2008). The myofibroblast: phenotypic characterization as a prerequisite to understanding its functions in translational medicine. *J Cell Mol Med*, *12*(1), 22-37. doi:10.1111/j.1582-4934.2007.00213.x
- Filidou, E., Valatas, V., Drygiannakis, I., Arvanitidis, K., Vradelis, S., Kouklakis, G., ... Bamias, G. (2018a). Cytokine Receptor Profiling in Human Colonic Subepithelial Myofibroblasts: A Differential Effect of Th Polarization-Associated Cytokines in Intestinal Fibrosis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis*, 24(10), 2224-2241. doi:10.1093/ibd/izy204
- Flynn, S., & Eisenstein, S. (2019). Inflammatory Bowel Disease Presentation and Diagnosis. *Surgical Clinics of North America*, *99*(6), 1051-1062. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.suc.2019.08.001</u>
- Frank, D. N., Amand, A. L. S., Feldman, R. A., Boedeker, E. C., Harpaz, N., & Pace, N. R. (2007). Molecular-phylogenetic characterization of microbial community imbalances in human inflammatory bowel diseases. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 104*(34), 13780-13785. doi:10.1073/pnas.0706625104
- Fritz, T., Niederreiter, L., Adolph, T., Blumberg, R. S., & Kaser, A. (2011). Crohn's disease: NOD2, autophagy and ER stress converge. *Gut*, *60*(11), 1580-1588. doi:10.1136/gut.2009.206466
- Furness, J. B. (2012). The enteric nervous system and neurogastroenterology. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology, 9*(5), 286-294.
- Fuss, I. J., Heller, F., Boirivant, M., Leon, F., Yoshida, M., Fichtner-Feigl, S., . . . Strober, W. (2004).
   Nonclassical CD1d-restricted NK T cells that produce IL-13 characterize an atypical Th2 response in ulcerative colitis. *J.Clin.Invest*, *113*(10), 1490-1497. doi:10.1172/JCl19836 [doi]
- Fuss, I. J., Neurath, M., Boirivant, M., Klein, J. S., de la Motte, C., Strong, S. A., . . . Strober, W. (1996). Disparate CD4+ lamina propria (LP) lymphokine secretion profiles in inflammatory bowel disease. Crohn's disease LP cells manifest increased secretion of IFN-gamma, whereas ulcerative colitis LP cells manifest increased secretion of IL-5. J.Immunol., 157(3), 1261-1270.
- Ge, J., Burnier, L., Adamopoulou, M., Kwa, M. Q., Schaks, M., Rottner, K., & Brakebusch, C. (2018).
   RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42 differentially regulate αSMA and collagen I expression in mesenchymal stem cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 293(24), 9358-9369.

- Genevois, A. L., Ichim, G., Coissieux, M. M., Lambert, M. P., Lavial, F., Goldschneider, D., . . . Mehlen, P. (2013). Dependence receptor TrkC is a putative colon cancer tumor suppressor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *110*(8), 3017-3022. doi:10.1073/pnas.1212333110
- Gentry, J. J., Barker, P. A., & Carter, B. D. (2004). The p75 neurotrophin receptor: multiple interactors and numerous functions. *Progress in brain research*, *146*, 25-39.
- George, M. M., Rahman, M., Connors, J., & Stadnyk, A. W. (2019). Opinion: Are Organoids the End of Model Evolution for Studying Host Intestinal Epithelium/Microbe Interactions? *Microorganisms*, 7(10). doi:10.3390/microorganisms7100406
- Gershon, M. (2019). *The second brain: a groundbreaking new understanding of nervous disorders of the stomach and intestine*: HarperCollins.
- Ginty, D. D., & Segal, R. A. (2002). Retrograde neurotrophin signaling: Trk-ing along the axon. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, *12*(3), 268-274. doi:10.1016/s0959-4388(02)00326-4
- Grossmann, J., Walther, K., Artinger, M., Kiessling, S., Steinkamp, M., Schmautz, W. K., . . . Rogler, G. (2003). Progress on isolation and short-term ex-vivo culture of highly purified non-apoptotic human intestinal epithelial cells (IEC). *Eur J Cell Biol, 82*(5), 262-270. doi:10.1078/0171-9335-00312
- Guan, Q., & Zhang, J. (2017). Recent Advances: The Imbalance of Cytokines in the Pathogenesis of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Mediators.Inflamm., 2017,* 4810258. doi:10.1155/2017/4810258 [doi]
- Guerra, J. F., Zasloff, M., Lough, D., Abdo, J., Hawksworth, J., Mastumoto, C., . . . Fishbein, T. (2012).
   NOD2 Polymorphisms in Patients With Intestinal Failure. *J.Gastroenterol.Hepatol.* doi:10.1111/jgh.12037 [doi]
- Gutzmann, H., & Hadler, D. (1998). Sustained efficacy and safety of idebenone in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease: update on a 2-year double-blind multicentre study: Springer.
- Hansen, J. J. (2015). Immune Responses to Intestinal Microbes in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. *Curr Allergy Asthma Rep, 15*(10), 61. doi:10.1007/s11882-015-0562-9
- Hata, K., Andoh, A., Shimada, M., Fujino, S., Bamba, S., Araki, Y., . . . Bamba, T. (2002). IL-17 stimulates inflammatory responses via NF-kappaB and MAP kinase pathways in human colonic myofibroblasts. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 282*(6), G1035-1044. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00494.2001
- Hayashi, R., Tahara, T., Yamaaki, T., Saito, T., Matsunaga, K., Hayashi, N., . . . Arisawa, T. (2012). -449 C>G polymorphism of NFKB1 gene, coding nuclear factor-kappa-B, is associated with the susceptibility to ulcerative colitis. *World J Gastroenterol, 18*(47), 6981-6986. doi:10.3748/wjg.v18.i47.6981
- Hayashi, Y., & Nakase, H. (2022). The Molecular Mechanisms of Intestinal Inflammation and Fibrosis in Crohn's Disease. *Front Physiol, 13*, 845078. doi:10.3389/fphys.2022.845078
- He, J., Zhang, X., Xia, X., Han, M., Li, F., Li, C., . . . Gao, D. (2020). Organoid technology for tissue engineering. *Journal of Molecular Cell Biology, 12*(8), 569-579. doi:10.1093/jmcb/mjaa012
- Hempstead, B. L. (2002). The many faces of p75NTR. Current opinion in neurobiology, 12(3), 260-267.
- Hempstead, B. L. (2015). Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor: Three Ligands, Many Actions. *Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc, 126*, 9-19.
- Holzer, P., & Farzi, A. (2014). Neuropeptides and the microbiota-gut-brain axis. *Microbial endocrinology: the microbiota-gut-brain axis in health and disease*, 195-219.
- Huang, E. J., & Reichardt, L. F. (2001). Neurotrophins: roles in neuronal development and function. Annu Rev Neurosci, 24, 677-736. doi:10.1146/annurev.neuro.24.1.677
- Huang, E. J., & Reichardt, L. F. (2003). Trk Receptors: Roles in Neuronal Signal Transduction. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 72(1), 609-642. doi:10.1146/annurev.biochem.72.121801.161629
- Hughes, C. S., Postovit, L. M., & Lajoie, G. A. (2010). Matrigel: A complex protein mixture required for optimal growth of cell culture. *Proteomics*, 10(9), 1886-1890. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/pmic.200900758

- Hugot, J. P., Chamaillard, M., Zouali, H., Lesage, S., Cezard, J. P., Belaiche, J., . . . Thomas, G. (2001).
   Association of NOD2 leucine-rich repeat variants with susceptibility to Crohn's disease.
   *Nature*, 411(6837), 599-603. doi:10.1038/35079107 [doi];35079107 [pii]
- Ibán-Arias, R., Lisa, S., Mastrodimou, N., Kokona, D., Koulakis, E., Iordanidou, P., . . . Thermos, K. (2017). The Synthetic Microneurotrophin BNN27 Affects Retinal Function in Rats With Streptozotocin-Induced Diabetes. *Diabetes*, *67*(2), 321-333. doi:10.2337/db17-0391
- Jacob, N., Targan, S. R., & Shih, D. Q. (2016). Cytokine and anti-cytokine therapies in prevention or treatment of fibrosis in IBD. *United European gastroenterology journal, 4*(4), 531-540. doi:10.1177/2050640616649356
- Jang, S.-W., Liu, X., Chan, C. B., France, S. A., Sayeed, I., Tang, W., . . . Chang, Q. (2010). Deoxygedunin, a natural product with potent neurotrophic activity in mice. *PLoS One*, 5(7), e11528.
- Jang, S.-W., Okada, M., Sayeed, I., Xiao, G., Stein, D., Jin, P., & Ye, K. (2007). Gambogic amide, a selective agonist for TrkA receptor that possesses robust neurotrophic activity, prevents neuronal cell death. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(41), 16329-16334.
- Josephy-Hernandez, S., Jmaeff, S., Pirvulescu, I., Aboulkassim, T., & Saragovi, H. U. (2017). Neurotrophin receptor agonists and antagonists as therapeutic agents: An evolving paradigm. *Neurobiology of Disease, 97*, 139-155. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2016.08.004
- Kalafatakis, I., Patellis, A., Charalampopoulos, I., Gravanis, A., & Karagogeos, D. (2021). The beneficial role of the synthetic microneurotrophin BNN20 in a focal demyelination model. *J Neurosci Res*, 99(5), 1474-1495. doi:10.1002/jnr.24809
- Kandilogiannakis, L., Filidou, E., Drygiannakis, I., Tarapatzi, G., Didaskalou, S., Koffa, M., . . . Kolios, G. (2021). Development of a Human Intestinal Organoid Model for *In vitro* Studies on Gut Inflammation and Fibrosis. *Stem Cells Int, 2021*, 9929461. doi:10.1155/2021/9929461
- Kaur, G., & Dufour, J. M. (2012). Cell lines: Valuable tools or useless artifacts. *Spermatogenesis*, 2(1), 1-5. doi:10.4161/spmg.19885
- Kendall, T. J., Hennedige, S., Aucott, R. L., Hartland, S. N., Vernon, M. A., Benyon, R. C., & Iredale, J. P. (2009). p75 Neurotrophin receptor signaling regulates hepatic myofibroblast proliferation and apoptosis in recovery from rodent liver fibrosis. *Hepatology*, 49(3), 901-910. doi:10.1002/hep.22701
- Kienle, K., & Lämmermann, T. (2016). Neutrophil swarming: an essential process of the neutrophil tissue response. *Immunol Rev, 273*(1), 76-93. doi:10.1111/imr.12458
- Kim, D. H., & Cheon, J. H. (2017). Pathogenesis of Inflammatory Bowel Disease and Recent Advances in Biologic Therapies. *Immune.Netw.*, *17*(1), 25-40. doi:10.4110/in.2017.17.1.25 [doi]
- Kim, J., Koo, B.-K., & Knoblich, J. A. (2020). Human organoids: model systems for human biology and medicine. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 21(10), 571-584. doi:10.1038/s41580-020-0259-3
- Knowles, J. K., Simmons, D. A., Nguyen, T.-V. V., Vander Griend, L., Xie, Y., Zhang, H., . . . Arancio, O. (2013). A small molecule p75NTR ligand prevents cognitive deficits and neurite degeneration in an Alzheimer's mouse model. *Neurobiology of aging*, 34(8), 2052-2063.
- Korsching, S. (1993). The neurotrophic factor concept: a reexamination. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 13(7), 2739-2748.
- Koumas, L., Smith, T. J., Feldon, S., Blumberg, N., & Phipps, R. P. (2003). Thy-1 expression in human fibroblast subsets defines myofibroblastic or lipofibroblastic phenotypes. *Am J Pathol*, 163(4), 1291-1300. doi:10.1016/s0002-9440(10)63488-8
- Kraiczy, J., Nayak, K. M., Howell, K. J., Ross, A., Forbester, J., Salvestrini, C., . . . Zilbauer, M. (2019). DNA methylation defines regional identity of human intestinal epithelial organoids and

undergoes dynamic changes during development. *Gut, 68*(1), 49-61. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2017-314817

- Latella, G., Rogler, G., Bamias, G., Breynaert, C., Florholmen, J., Pellino, G., . . . Lawrance, I. C. (2014). Results of the 4th scientific workshop of the ECCO (I): pathophysiology of intestinal fibrosis in IBD. *J Crohns Colitis, 8*(10), 1147-1165. doi:10.1016/j.crohns.2014.03.008
- Lawrance, I. C., Rogler, G., Bamias, G., Breynaert, C., Florholmen, J., Pellino, G., . . . Latella, G. (2017). Cellular and Molecular Mediators of Intestinal Fibrosis. *J Crohns Colitis*, *11*(12), 1491-1503. doi:10.1016/j.crohns.2014.09.008
- Leask, A., & Abraham, D. J. (2004). TGF-beta signaling and the fibrotic response. *Faseb j, 18*(7), 816-827. doi:10.1096/fj.03-1273rev
- Lee, F. S., Kim, A. H., Khursigara, G., & Chao, M. V. (2001). The uniqueness of being a neurotrophin receptor. *Current opinion in neurobiology*, *11*(3), 281-286.
- Lee, J. M., Dedhar, S., Kalluri, R., & Thompson, E. W. (2006). The epithelial-mesenchymal transition: new insights in signaling, development, and disease. *J Cell Biol*, *172*(7), 973-981. doi:10.1083/jcb.200601018
- Lei, H., Wu, D., Wang, J.-Y., Li, L., Zhang, C.-L., Feng, H., . . . Wu, L.-L. (2015). C1q/tumor necrosis factor-related protein-6 attenuates post-infarct cardiac fibrosis by targeting RhoA/MRTF-A pathway and inhibiting myofibroblast differentiation. *Basic research in cardiology, 110*, 1-17.
- Lei, N. Y., Jabaji, Z., Wang, J., Joshi, V. S., Brinkley, G. J., Khalil, H., . . . Martín, M. G. (2014). Intestinal subepithelial myofibroblasts support the growth of intestinal epithelial stem cells. *PLoS One*, 9(1), e84651. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0084651
- Leppkes, M., & Neurath, M. F. (2020). Cytokines in inflammatory bowel diseases Update 2020. *Pharmacol Res, 158*, 104835. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2020.104835
- Lewis, S. K., Nachun, D., Martin, M. G., Horvath, S., Coppola, G., & Jones, D. L. (2020). DNA Methylation Analysis Validates Organoids as a Viable Model for Studying Human Intestinal Aging. *Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol, 9*(3), 527-541. doi:10.1016/j.jcmgh.2019.11.013
- Li, Y., Tang, P., Cai, S., Peng, J., & Hua, G. (2020). Organoid based personalized medicine: from bench to bedside. *Cell Regeneration*, *9*(1), 21. doi:10.1186/s13619-020-00059-z
- Liepinsh, E., Ilag, L. L., Otting, G., & Ibanez, C. F. (1997). NMR structure of the death domain of the p75 neurotrophin receptor. *The EMBO Journal, 16*(16), 4999-5005.
- Lindberg, E., Tysk, C., Andersson, K., & Jarnerot, G. (1988). Smoking and inflammatory bowel disease. A case control study. *Gut*, *29*(3), 352-357.
- Liu, Z., Cao, Y., Liu, G., Yin, S., Ma, J., Liu, J., . . . Wang, Y. (2019). p75 neurotrophin receptor regulates NGF-induced myofibroblast differentiation and collagen synthesis through MRTF-A. *Exp Cell Res, 383*(1), 111504. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2019.111504
- Lord, J. D. (2015). Promises and paradoxes of regulatory T cells in inflammatory bowel disease. *World J Gastroenterol, 21*(40), 11236-11245. doi:10.3748/wjg.v21.i40.11236
- Luchsinger, L. L., Patenaude, C. A., Smith, B. D., & Layne, M. D. (2011). Myocardin-related transcription factor-A complexes activate type I collagen expression in lung fibroblasts. *Journal of Biological Chemistry, 286*(51), 44116-44125.
- Maliartchouk, S., Feng, Y., Ivanisevic, L., Debeir, T., Cuello, A. C., Burgess, K., & Saragovi, H. U. (2000). A designed peptidomimetic agonistic ligand of TrkA nerve growth factor receptors. *Molecular pharmacology*, *57*(2), 385-391.
- Mannon, P., & Reinisch, W. (2012). Interleukin 13 and its role in gut defence and inflammation. *Gut*, *61*(12), 1765-1773. doi:gutjnl-2012-303461 [pii];10.1136/gutjnl-2012-303461 [doi]
- Mayer, E. A., Nance, K., & Chen, S. (2022). The gut–brain axis. *Annual Review of Medicine*, 73, 439-453.
- McEntee, C. P., Gunaltay, S., & Travis, M. A. (2020). Regulation of barrier immunity and homeostasis by integrin-mediated transforming growth factor β activation. *Immunology*, *160*(2), 139-148. doi:10.1111/imm.13162

Method of the Year 2017: Organoids. (2018). Nature Methods, 15(1), 1-1. doi:10.1038/nmeth.4575

- Micera, A., Lambiase, A., Stampachiacchiere, B., Sgrulletta, R., Normando, E. M., Bonini, S., & Bonini, S. (2007). Nerve growth factor has a modulatory role on human primary fibroblast cultures derived from vernal keratoconjunctivitis-affected conjunctiva. *Mol Vis*, *13*, 981-987.
- Micera, A., Puxeddu, I., Balzamino, B. O., Bonini, S., & Levi-Schaffer, F. (2012). Chronic nerve growth factor exposure increases apoptosis in a model of *in vitro* induced conjunctival myofibroblasts. *PLoS One*, 7(10), e47316. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0047316
- Micera, A., Puxeddu, I., Lambiase, A., Antonelli, A., Bonini, S., Bonini, S., . . . Levi-Schaffer, F. (2005). The pro-fibrogenic effect of nerve growth factor on conjunctival fibroblasts is mediated by transforming growth factor-beta. *Clin Exp Allergy*, *35*(5), 650-656. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2222.2005.02241.x
- Micera, A., Vigneti, E., Pickholtz, D., Reich, R., Pappo, O., Bonini, S., . . . Levi-Schaffer, F. (2001). Nerve growth factor displays stimulatory effects on human skin and lung fibroblasts, demonstrating a direct role for this factor in tissue repair. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 98*(11), 6162-6167. doi:10.1073/pnas.101130898
- Mifflin, R. C., Pinchuk, I. V., Saada, J. I., & Powell, D. W. (2011). Intestinal myofibroblasts: targets for stem cell therapy. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 300*(5), G684-696. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00474.2010
- Morais, L. H., Schreiber IV, H. L., & Mazmanian, S. K. (2021). The gut microbiota–brain axis in behaviour and brain disorders. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, *19*(4), 241-255.
- Mortensen, J. H., Lindholm, M., Langholm, L. L., Kjeldsen, J., Bay-Jensen, A. C., Karsdal, M. A., & Manon-Jensen, T. (2019). The intestinal tissue homeostasis - the role of extracellular matrix remodeling in inflammatory bowel disease. *Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 13(10), 977-993. doi:10.1080/17474124.2019.1673729
- Ng, S. C., Shi, H. Y., Hamidi, N., Underwood, F. E., Tang, W., Benchimol, E. I., . . . Kaplan, G. G. (2017). Worldwide incidence and prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease in the 21st century: a systematic review of population-based studies. *Lancet, 390*(10114), 2769-2778. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(17)32448-0
- Nguyen, T.-V. V., Shen, L., Vander Griend, L., Quach, L. N., Belichenko, N. P., Saw, N., . . . Massa, S. M. (2014). Small molecule p75 NTR ligands reduce pathological phosphorylation and misfolding of tau, inflammatory changes, cholinergic degeneration, and cognitive deficits in AβPP L/S transgenic mice. *Journal of Alzheimer's disease*, *42*(2), 459-483.
- Obianyo, O., & Ye, K. (2013). Novel small molecule activators of the Trk family of receptor tyrosine kinases. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Proteins and Proteomics, 1834*(10), 2213-2218.
- Ogura, Y., Bonen, D. K., Inohara, N., Nicolae, D. L., Chen, F. F., Ramos, R., . . . Cho, J. H. (2001). A frameshift mutation in NOD2 associated with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. *Nature*, *411*(6837), 603-606. doi:10.1038/35079114 [doi];35079114 [pii]
- Okuno, T., Andoh, A., Bamba, S., Araki, Y., Fujiyama, Y., Fujiyama, M., & Bamba, T. (2002). Interleukin-1beta and tumor necrosis factor-alpha induce chemokine and matrix metalloproteinase gene expression in human colonic subepithelial myofibroblasts. *Scand J Gastroenterol, 37*(3), 317-324. doi:10.1080/003655202317284228
- Omar, N. A., Kumar, J., & Teoh, S. L. (2022). Neurotrophin-3 and neurotrophin-4: The unsung heroes that lies behind the meninges. *Neuropeptides*, *92*, 102226. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.npep.2022.102226</u>
- Ordas, I., Eckmann, L., Talamini, M., Baumgart, D. C., & Sandborn, W. J. (2012). Ulcerative colitis. *Lancet, 380*(9853), 1606-1619. doi:S0140-6736(12)60150-0 [pii];10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60150-0 [doi]
- Orsucci, D., Mancuso, M., Ienco, E. C., LoGerfo, A., & Siciliano, G. (2011). Targeting mitochondrial dysfunction and neurodegeneration by means of coenzyme Q10 and its analogues. *Current medicinal chemistry*, *18*(26), 4053-4064.

- Osterman, M. T. (2013). Mucosal healing in inflammatory bowel disease. *J Clin Gastroenterol,* 47(3), 212-221. doi:10.1097/MCG.0b013e3182732ff5
- Owens, B. M. (2015). Inflammation, Innate Immunity, and the Intestinal Stromal Cell Niche: Opportunities and Challenges. *Front Immunol, 6*, 319. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00319
- Palazzo, E., Marconi, A., Truzzi, F., Dallaglio, K., Petrachi, T., Humbert, P., . . . Pincelli, C. (2012). Role of neurotrophins on dermal fibroblast survival and differentiation. *J Cell Physiol*, *227*(3), 1017-1025. doi:10.1002/jcp.22811
- Pamies, D., Bal-Price, A., Chesné, C., Coecke, S., Dinnyes, A., Eskes, C., . . . Daneshian, M. (2018). Advanced Good Cell Culture Practice for human primary, stem cell-derived and organoid models as well as microphysiological systems. *Altex*, 35(3), 353-378. doi:10.14573/altex.1710081
- Panagiotakopoulou, V., Botsakis, K., Delis, F., Mourtzi, T., Tzatzarakis, M. N., Dimopoulou, A., . . .
   Angelatou, F. (2020). Anti-neuroinflammatory, protective effects of the synthetic microneurotrophin BNN-20 in the advanced dopaminergic neurodegeneration of "weaver" mice. *Neuropharmacology*, *165*, 107919. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2019.107919
- Passino, M. A., Adams, R. A., Sikorski, S. L., & Akassoglou, K. (2007). Regulation of hepatic stellate cell differentiation by the neurotrophin receptor p75NTR. *Science*, *315*(5820), 1853-1856. doi:10.1126/science.1137603
- Pediaditakis, I., Efstathopoulos, P., Prousis, K. C., Zervou, M., Arévalo, J. C., Alexaki, V. I., . . . Tavernarakis, N. (2016). Selective and differential interactions of BNN27, a novel C17spiroepoxy steroid derivative, with TrkA receptors, regulating neuronal survival and differentiation. *Neuropharmacology*, 111, 266-282.
- Pediaditakis, I., Kourgiantaki, A., Prousis, K. C., Potamitis, C., Xanthopoulos, K. P., Zervou, M., . . . Gravanis, A. (2016). BNN27, a 17-spiroepoxy steroid derivative, interacts with and activates p75 neurotrophin receptor, rescuing cerebellar granule neurons from apoptosis. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 7, 512.
- Peleshok, J., & Saragovi, H. (2006). Functional mimetics of neurotrophins and their receptors. *Biochemical Society Transactions, 34*(4), 612-617.
- Petagna, L., Antonelli, A., Ganini, C., Bellato, V., Campanelli, M., Divizia, A., . . . Sica, G. S. (2020). Pathophysiology of Crohn's disease inflammation and recurrence. *Biol Direct*, *15*(1), 23. doi:10.1186/s13062-020-00280-5
- Petrey, A. C., & de la Motte, C. A. (2017). The extracellular matrix in IBD: a dynamic mediator of inflammation. *Curr Opin Gastroenterol, 33*(4), 234-238. doi:10.1097/mog.0000000000368
- Pinchuk, I. V., Mifflin, R. C., Saada, J. I., & Powell, D. W. (2010). Intestinal mesenchymal cells. *Curr Gastroenterol Rep, 12*(5), 310-318. doi:10.1007/s11894-010-0135-y
- Powell, D. W., Mifflin, R. C., Valentich, J. D., Crowe, S. E., Saada, J. I., & West, A. B. (1999).
   Myofibroblasts. I. Paracrine cells important in health and disease. *Am J Physiol*, 277(1), C1-9. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.1999.277.1.C1
- Powell, D. W., Pinchuk, I. V., Saada, J. I., Chen, X., & Mifflin, R. C. (2011). Mesenchymal cells of the intestinal lamina propria. *Annu Rev Physiol*, *73*, 213-237. doi:10.1146/annurev.physiol.70.113006.100646
- Rahman, F. Z., Smith, A. M., Hayee, B., Marks, D. J., Bloom, S. L., & Segal, A. W. (2010). Delayed resolution of acute inflammation in ulcerative colitis is associated with elevated cytokine release downstream of TLR4. *PLoS One, 5*(3), e9891. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0009891
- Ramos, G. P., & Papadakis, K. A. (2019). Mechanisms of Disease: Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 94(1), 155-165. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2018.09.013</u>
- Randall, C. W., Vizuete, J. A., Martinez, N., Alvarez, J. J., Garapati, K. V., Malakouti, M., & Taboada, C. M. (2015). From historical perspectives to modern therapy: a review of current and future

biological treatments for Crohn's disease. *Therap.Adv.Gastroenterol., 8*(3), 143-159. doi:10.1177/1756283X15576462 [doi];10.1177\_1756283X15576462 [pii]

- Ranganathan, S., Smith, E. M., Foulke-Abel, J. D., & Barry, E. M. (2020). Research in a time of enteroids and organoids: how the human gut model has transformed the study of enteric bacterial pathogens. *Gut Microbes, 12*(1), 1795492. doi:10.1080/19490976.2020.1795389
- Rapozo, D. C., Bernardazzi, C., & de Souza, H. S. (2017). Diet and microbiota in inflammatory bowel disease: The gut in disharmony. *World J Gastroenterol*, 23(12), 2124-2140. doi:10.3748/wjg.v23.i12.2124 [doi]
- Reinecker, H. C., Steffen, M., Witthoeft, T., Pflueger, I., Schreiber, S., MacDermott, R. P., & Raedler, A. (1993). Enhanced secretion of tumour necrosis factor-alpha, IL-6, and IL-1 beta by isolated lamina propria mononuclear cells from patients with ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. *Clin Exp Immunol, 94*(1), 174-181. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.1993.tb05997.x
- Rheinwald, J. G., & Green, H. (1975). Serial cultivation of strains of human epidermal keratinocytes: the formation of keratinizing colonies from single cells. *Cell*, 6(3), 331-343. doi:10.1016/s0092-8674(75)80001-8
- Rieder, F., Brenmoehl, J., Leeb, S., Schölmerich, J., & Rogler, G. (2007). Wound healing and fibrosis in intestinal disease. *Gut*, *56*(1), 130-139. doi:10.1136/gut.2006.090456
- Rieder, F., & Fiocchi, C. (2009). Intestinal fibrosis in IBD--a dynamic, multifactorial process. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol, 6*(4), 228-235. doi:10.1038/nrgastro.2009.31
- Rogdakis, T., Charou, D., Latorrata, A., Papadimitriou, E., Tsengenes, A., Athanasiou, C., . . . Charalampopoulos, I. (2022). Development and Biological Characterization of a Novel Selective TrkA Agonist with Neuroprotective Properties against Amyloid Toxicity. *Biomedicines*, 10(3). doi:10.3390/biomedicines10030614
- Rookmaaker, M. B., Schutgens, F., Verhaar, M. C., & Clevers, H. (2015). Development and application of human adult stem or progenitor cell organoids. *Nature Reviews Nephrology*, 11(9), 546-554. doi:10.1038/nrneph.2015.118
- Roulis, M., & Flavell, R. A. (2016). Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts of the intestinal lamina propria in physiology and disease. *Differentiation, 92*(3), 116-131. doi:10.1016/j.diff.2016.05.002
- Ruberti, F., Capsoni, S., Comparini, A., Di Daniel, E., Franzot, J., Gonfloni, S., . . . Cattaneo, A. (2000). Phenotypic knockout of nerve growth factor in adult transgenic mice reveals severe deficits in basal forebrain cholinergic neurons, cell death in the spleen, and skeletal muscle dystrophy. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 20(7), 2589-2601.

Sampson, T. R., & Mazmanian, S. K. (2015). Control of brain development, function, and behavior by the microbiome. *Cell Host Microbe, 17*(5), 565-576.

- Sanders, Y. Y., Cui, Z., Le Saux, C. J., Horowitz, J. C., Rangarajan, S., Kurundkar, A., . . . Thannickal, V. J. (2015). SMAD-independent down-regulation of caveolin-1 by TGF-β: effects on proliferation and survival of myofibroblasts. *PLoS One*, *10*(2), e0116995. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0116995
- Saragovi, H. U., & Gehring, K. (2000). Development of pharmacological agents for targeting neurotrophins and their receptors. *Trends in pharmacological sciences, 21*(3), 93-98.
- Saragovi, H. U., Hamel, E., & Di Polo, A. (2009). A neurotrophic rationale for the therapy of neurodegenerative disorders. *Current Alzheimer Research, 6*(5), 419-423.
- Sato, T., & Clevers, H. (2013). Growing self-organizing mini-guts from a single intestinal stem cell: mechanism and applications. *Science*, *340*(6137), 1190-1194. doi:10.1126/science.1234852
- Sato, T., Stange, D. E., Ferrante, M., Vries, R. G., Van Es, J. H., Van den Brink, S., . . . Clevers, H. (2011). Long-term expansion of epithelial organoids from human colon, adenoma, adenocarcinoma, and Barrett's epithelium. *Gastroenterology*, 141(5), 1762-1772. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2011.07.050

- Sato, T., Vries, R. G., Snippert, H. J., van de Wetering, M., Barker, N., Stange, D. E., . . . Clevers, H. (2009). Single Lgr5 stem cells build crypt-villus structures *in vitro* without a mesenchymal niche. *Nature*, 459(7244), 262-265. doi:10.1038/nature07935
- Segal, A. W. (2018). The role of neutrophils in the pathogenesis of Crohn's disease. *Eur J Clin Invest,* 48 Suppl 2, e12983. doi:10.1111/eci.12983
- Segal, A. W. (2019). Studies on patients establish Crohn's disease as a manifestation of impaired innate immunity. *J Intern Med, 286*(4), 373-388. doi:10.1111/joim.12945
- Sharma, V., Singh, T. G., Kaur, A., Mannan, A., & Dhiman, S. (2023). Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor: A Novel Dynamically Regulated Therapeutic Modulator in Neurological Disorders. *Neurochem Res*, 48(2), 317-339. doi:10.1007/s11064-022-03755-1
- Shiwen, X., Stratton, R., Nikitorowicz-Buniak, J., Ahmed-Abdi, B., Ponticos, M., Denton, C., . . . Layne, M. D. (2015). A role of myocardin related transcription factor-A (MRTF-A) in scleroderma related fibrosis. *PLoS One*, *10*(5), e0126015.
- Siakavellas, S. I., & Bamias, G. (2012). Role of the IL-23/IL-17 axis in Crohn's disease. *Discov Med*, *14*(77), 253-262.
- Silva, F. A., Rodrigues, B. L., Ayrizono, M. L., & Leal, R. F. (2016). The Immunological Basis of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Gastroenterol.Res.Pract., 2016*, 2097274. doi:10.1155/2016/2097274 [doi]
- Singh, A., Poling, H. M., Spence, J. R., Wells, J. M., & Helmrath, M. A. (2020). Gastrointestinal organoids: a next-generation tool for modeling human development. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 319(3), G375-g381. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00199.2020
- Skaper, S. D. (2012). The Neurotrophin Family of Neurotrophic Factors: An Overview. In S. D. Skaper (Ed.), *Neurotrophic Factors: Methods and Protocols* (pp. 1-12). Totowa, NJ: Humana Press.
- Skeldal, S., Coulson, E., Bradshaw, R., & Stahl, P. (2016). Encyclopedia of cell biology. In: Elsevier Inc.
- Sobreviela, T., Clary, D. O., Reichardt, L. F., Brandabur, M. M., Kordower, J. H., & Mufson, E. J. (1994). TrkA-immunoreactive profiles in the central nervous system: colocalization with neurons containing p75 nerve growth factor receptor, choline acetyltransferase, and serotonin. *Journal of Comparative Neurology, 350*(4), 587-611.
- Spence, J. R., Mayhew, C. N., Rankin, S. A., Kuhar, M. F., Vallance, J. E., Tolle, K., . . . Wells, J. M. (2011). Directed differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells into intestinal tissue *in vitro*. *Nature*, *470*(7332), 105-109. doi:nature09691 [pii];10.1038/nature09691 [doi]
- Stelzner, M., Helmrath, M., Dunn, J. C., Henning, S. J., Houchen, C. W., Kuo, C., . . . Yu, J. (2012). A nomenclature for intestinal *in vitro* cultures. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 302(12), G1359-1363. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00493.2011
- Stone, R. C., Pastar, I., Ojeh, N., Chen, V., Liu, S., Garzon, K. I., & Tomic-Canic, M. (2016). Epithelialmesenchymal transition in tissue repair and fibrosis. *Cell Tissue Res, 365*(3), 495-506. doi:10.1007/s00441-016-2464-0
- Strober, W., Fuss, I., & Mannon, P. (2007). The fundamental basis of inflammatory bowel disease. *J.Clin.Invest*, *117*(3), 514-521. doi:10.1172/JCI30587 [doi]
- Szobota, S., Mathur, P. D., Siegel, S., Black, K., Saragovi, H. U., & Foster, A. C. (2019). BDNF, NT-3 and Trk receptor agonist monoclonal antibodies promote neuron survival, neurite extension, and synapse restoration in rat cochlea *ex vivo* models relevant for hidden hearing loss. *PLoS One*, 14(10), e0224022.
- Tanaka, K., Kelly, C. E., Goh, K. Y., Lim, K. B., & Ibánez, C. F. (2016). Death domain signaling by disulfide-linked dimers of the p75 neurotrophin receptor mediates neuronal death in the CNS. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *36*(20), 5587-5595.
- Tarapatzi, G., Filidou, E., Kandilogiannakis, L., Spathakis, M., Gaitanidou, M., Arvanitidis, K., . . . Vradelis, S. (2022). The Probiotic Strains Bifidοbacterium lactis, Lactobacillus acidophilus, Lactiplantibacillus plantarum and Saccharomyces boulardii Regulate Wound Healing and Chemokine Responses in Human Intestinal Subepithelial Myofibroblasts.

*Pharmaceuticals, 15*(10), 1293. Retrieved from <u>https://www.mdpi.com/1424-8247/15/10/1293</u>

- Thal, L., Grundman, M., Berg, J., Ernstrom, K., Margolin, R., Pfeiffer, E., . . . Thomas, R. (2003).
   Idebenone treatment fails to slow cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, 61(11), 1498-1502.
- Travis, M. A., & Sheppard, D. (2014). TGF-β activation and function in immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol, 32*, 51-82. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120257
- Tsuruta, S., Uchida, H., & Akutsu, H. (2020). Intestinal Organoids Generated from Human Pluripotent Stem Cells. *Jma j*, *3*(1), 9-19. doi:10.31662/jmaj.2019-0027
- Tzavlaki, K., & Moustakas, A. (2020). TGF-β Signaling. *Biomolecules, 10*(3). doi:10.3390/biom10030487
- Ullrich, A., Gray, A., Berman, C., Coussens, L., & Dull, T. (1983). *Sequence homology of human and mouse θ-NGF subunit genes.* Paper presented at the Cold Spring Harbor symposia on quantitative biology.
- Ungaro, R., Mehandru, S., Allen, P. B., Peyrin-Biroulet, L., & Colombel, J. F. (2017). Ulcerative colitis. *Lancet, 389*(10080), 1756-1770. doi:S0140-6736(16)32126-2 [pii];10.1016/S0140-6736(16)32126-2 [doi]
- Valatas, V., Filidou, E., Drygiannakis, I., & Kolios, G. (2017). Stromal and immune cells in gut fibrosis: the myofibroblast and the scarface. *Ann Gastroenterol, 30*(4), 393-404. doi:10.20524/aog.2017.0146
- van der Hee, B., Madsen, O., Vervoort, J., Smidt, H., & Wells, J. M. (2020). Congruence of Transcription Programs in Adult Stem Cell-Derived Jejunum Organoids and Original Tissue During Long-Term Culture. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology, 8*(375). doi:10.3389/fcell.2020.00375
- Verdi, J. M., Birren, S. J., Ibáñez, C. F., Persson, H., Kaplan, D. R., Benedetti, M., . . . Anderson, D. J. (1994). p75LNGFR regulates Trk signal transduction and NGF-induced neuronal differentiation in MAH cells. *Neuron*, *12*(4), 733-745.
- Wells, R. G. (2000). Fibrogenesis. V. TGF-beta signaling pathways. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 279*(5), G845-850. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.2000.279.5.G845
- Wise, B. L., Seidel, M. F., & Lane, N. E. (2021). The evolution of nerve growth factor inhibition in clinical medicine. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology*, *17*(1), 34-46. doi:10.1038/s41584-020-00528-4
- Xavier, R. J., & Podolsky, D. K. (2007). Unravelling the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. *Nature, 448*(7152), 427-434. doi:10.1038/nature06005
- Xu, B., Gottschalk, W., Chow, A., Wilson, R. I., Schnell, E., Zang, K., . . . Reichardt, L. F. (2000). The role of brain-derived neurotrophic factor receptors in the mature hippocampus: modulation of long-term potentiation through a presynaptic mechanism involving TrkB. *Journal of Neuroscience, 20*(18), 6888-6897.
- Yamada, K., Nitta, A., Hasegawa, T., Fuji, K., Hiramatsu, M., Kameyama, T., . . . Nabeshima, T. (1997). Orally active NGF synthesis stimulators: potential therapeutic agents in Alzheimer's disease. *Behavioural brain research*, *83*(1-2), 117-122.
- Yang, T., Knowles, J. K., Lu, Q., Zhang, H., Arancio, O., Moore, L. A., . . . Rajadas, J. (2008). Small molecule, non-peptide p75NTR ligands inhibit Aβ-induced neurodegeneration and synaptic impairment. *PLoS One*, *3*(11), e3604.
- Yilmaz, C., Rogdakis, T., Latorrata, A., Thanou, E., Karadima, E., Papadimitriou, E., . . . Alexaki, V. I. (2022). ENT-A010, a Novel Steroid Derivative, Displays Neuroprotective Functions and Modulates Microglial Responses. *Biomolecules*, *12*(3). doi:10.3390/biom12030424
- Yu, Y. Q., Zhang, Y. L., Wang, Z., Liu, Y., Li, H., Zhou, X. F., . . . Dai, R. P. (2020). Involvement of proBDNF in Monocytes/Macrophages with Gastrointestinal Disorders in Depressive Mice. *Neurotox Res, 38*(4), 887-899. doi:10.1007/s12640-020-00235-8

- Zachos, N. C., Kovbasnjuk, O., Foulke-Abel, J., In, J., Blutt, S. E., de Jonge, H. R., . . . Donowitz, M. (2016). Human Enteroids/Colonoids and Intestinal Organoids Functionally Recapitulate Normal Intestinal Physiology and Pathophysiology. *J Biol Chem*, 291(8), 3759-3766. doi:10.1074/jbc.R114.635995
- Zhang, Y. Z., & Li, Y. Y. (2014). Inflammatory bowel disease: pathogenesis. *World J Gastroenterol, 20*(1), 91-99. doi:10.3748/wjg.v20.i1.91
- Zhang, Z., Liu, X., Schroeder, J. P., Chan, C.-B., Song, M., Yu, S. P., . . . Ye, K. (2014). 7, 8dihydroxyflavone prevents synaptic loss and memory deficits in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *39*(3), 638-650.
- Zhao, M., Gönczi, L., Lakatos, P. L., & Burisch, J. (2021). The Burden of Inflammatory Bowel Disease in Europe in 2020. *J Crohns Colitis, 15*(9), 1573-1587. doi:10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjab029
- Zhou, L., Ivanov, II, Spolski, R., Min, R., Shenderov, K., Egawa, T., . . . Littman, D. R. (2007). IL-6 programs T(H)-17 cell differentiation by promoting sequential engagement of the IL-21 and IL-23 pathways. *Nat Immunol, 8*(9), 967-974. doi:10.1038/ni1488